DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 352 981	IR 054 331
AUTHOR	Schick, Carla J.
TITLE	The Use of Concept Mapping To Evaluate the Effects of Both Bibliographic and Discipline-Based Art Education Instruction on the Library Skills of Elementary Art Teachers.
PUB DATE	Jul 91
NOTE	132p.; Master's Thesis, Kent State University.
PUB TYPE	Dissertations/Theses - Masters Theses (042)
EDRS PRICE	MF01/PC06 Plus Postage.
DESCRIPTORS	Art Education; *Art Teachers; Elementary Education; Higher Education; *Library Instruction; Library Research; *Library Skills; Multivariate Analysis; Research Methodology; Resource Centers; *Statistical Analysis
IDENTIFIERS	*Concept Maps

#### ABSTRACT

This study utilized the concept map, a visual representation of a learner's thought processes, as an assessment tool to evaluate the effects of both bibliographic instruction and Discipline-Based Art Education (DBAE) training on the library skills of elementary art teachers in a visual arts resource center. A 2x2factorial posttest-only control group design was chosen to test for the effects and possible interactions of the two independent variables. Concept maps that the subjects (n=37) constructed as a test of their understanding of library use were scored, and a two-way analysis of variance was performed on these scores. The results showed that there were no significant differences at the p<0.05 level among the mean concept map scores of the four groups under study. The value of concept maps for revealing learner misconceptions and the need for a second form of assessment to establish the concurrent validity of the concept map as an assessment tool was discussed. The appendixes contain a consent form for participants; a concept map worksheet; categories of format in the Arts Resource Center; and 21 task lists. (Contains 48 references.) (Author/ALF)

***************************************								
ກ່ະ	Reproductions	supplied by	EDRS are	the best	that o	can be	made	*
*		from the	original	document				*
***************************************								



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION Office of Educational Research and Improvement EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)

This document has been reproduced as received from the person or organization originating it

Minor changes have been made to improve reproduction quality

 Points of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent official OERI position or policy

## THE USE OF CONCEPT MAPPING TO EVALUATE THE EFFECTS OF BOTH BIBLIOGRAPHIC AND DISCIPLINE-BASED ART EDUCATION INSTRUCTION ON THE LIBRARY SKILLS OF ELEMENTARY ART TEACHERS

A Master's Research Paper submitted to the Kent State University School of Library Science in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Master of Library Science

by

Carla J. Schick

July, 1991

112054331

"PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE THIS MATERIAL HAS BEEN GRANTED BY Carla J. Schick

— i

TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)."

# **BEST COPY AVAILABLE**

·· · /

#### <u>Abstract</u>

This study utilized the concept map as an assessment tool to evaluate the effects of both bibliographic instruction and Discipline-Based Art Education (DBAE) training on the library skills of elementary art teachers in a visual arts resource center. A 2 x 2 factorial posttest-only control group design was chosen to test for the effects and possible interaction of the two independent variables. Concept mapping can be described as a visual representation of a learner's thought process. Concept maps that the subjects (n = 37) constructed as a test of their understanding of library use were scored, and a two-way analysis of variance was performed on these scores. The results showed that there were no significant differences at the p < 0.05 level among the mean concept map scores of the four groups under study. The value of concept maps for revealing learner misconceptions and the need for a second form of assessment to establish the concurrent validity of the concept map as an assessment tool was discussed.



Master's Research Paper by

Carla J Schick

B S , Oral Roberts University, 1977

M L S., Kent State University, 1991

Adviser 27 Challen Date 7/21/91



ii

4

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to gratefully acknowledge the assistance of the following persons whose help made this research project possible. The guidance that I received from my very patient project advisor Dr. Carl Franklin, was almost without limit. Rebecca Denning generously gave of her time to help me with statistical aspects of this project. And finally, I wish to acknowledge the computer graphics assistance that I received from my husband, David Schick.



# VITA

Sept. 17, 1955	Born - Burkesville, Kentucky
1977	B.A., Oral Roberts University, Tulsa, Oklahoma
1977–1980	Library Computer Clerk, Oral Roberts University, Tulsa, Oklahoma
1982–1986	Library Clerk, Luther Northwestern Theological Seminary, St. Paul, Minnesota
1987–1989	Library Technical Assistant, Reynoldsburg Branch, Columbus Metropolitan Library, Reynoldsburg, Ohio
1989-Present	Library Clerk, Columbus Public Schools, Columbus, Ohio
	A 10 mm D 10

Major Field of Study: German



iv

-

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE
------

APPROVAL PAGE	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
VITA	iv
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	iX
CHAPTER	
I. INTRODUCTION	1
Definition of Terms ARC Concept Map DBAE Instruction Bibliographic Instruction Statement of the Hypotheses Assumptions Limitations Chapter Summary	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 5 6 6
II. REVIEW OF THE RELATED LITERATURE Concept Mapping Background The Concept Map as Instructional Tool The Concept Map as Assessment Tool The Validity of Concept Mapping Related Models in Library Science Concept Maps Use in Library Science Concept Maps and the Visual Arts Bibliographic Instruction Overview The Lecture Approach The Media Approach The Experience-Based Approach Chapter Summary	8 8 11 12 13 14 15 15 16 16 16 16 17 17



v

·

III.	METHODOLOGY	19
	Research Design	19
	Threats to Internal and External Validity	20
	Internal Validity Threats	20
	External Validity Threats	21
	Site and Subject Selection	21
	Site Selection	21
	Subject Selection	22
	Human Subjects Review	22
	Characteristics of the Subjects	23
	Conditions of Testing and Treatment	24
	Concept Mapping Training Conditions	24
	Bibliographic Instruction Conditions	24
	Instrument	25
	Procedure	29
	Concept Map Training	29
	Bibliographic Instruction	30
	DBAE Instruction	32
	Posttest	33
	Data Analysis	34
	Descriptive Statistical Techniques	34
	Inferential Statistical Techniques	37
	Chapter Summary	37
IV.	FINDINGS	39
	Report of the Descriptive Data Analyses	39
	Group Posttest Scores	39
	Group Demonstration Scores	39
	Comparison of Posttest and Demonstration	42
	The Lesser Factors	42
	Report of the Inferential Data Analyses	46
	Testing of the Research Hypotheses	46
	Correlation of Demonstration and Posttest	47
	Testing of Unhypothesized Interactions	50
	Significance of Concept Map Components	50
	Report of the Follow-Up Analyses	54
	Chapter Summary	54
<b>V</b> .	DISCUSSION	55
	Overview of the Study	55
	Discussion of Findings	56
	The Main Factors	56
	Additional Findings	58
	mattionat timings	



Discussion of Limitations	58
Subject Selection	59
Bibliographic Instruction	60
Insufficient Instruction Time	60
Distracted Subjects	60
	61
DEAL Instruction	61
Inadequate Number of DBAL Subjects	01
Problems with Indexing of Visuals	01
The Lesser Factors	62
Gender, Proximity, and Masters	62
Years of Teaching Experience	63
The Concept Map Training	64
Incufficient Training Time	64
Dense station Tania Choige	65
	65
The Concept map as Assessment 1001	67
Conclusions	01
Recommendations for Further Research	01
Chapter Summary	69
	72
LIST OF KEFERENCES	
APPENDICES	77

.



# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE		
1.	Means of the Posttest Concept Map Scores by Group Training	40
2.	Means of the Demonstration Concept Map Scores by Group Training	41
3.	Means and Standard Deviations of the Demonstration and Posttest Scores for the Four Groups	43
4.	Mean Scores and Standard Deviations of Posttest Group Scores x Three Lesser Factors: Gender, Proximity, and Masters	44
5.	Two-Way Analysis of Variance: DBAE Instruction, Bibliographic Instruction, and DBAE x Bibliographic Instruction	47
6.	Two-Way Analysis of Covariance: Group Posttest Scores with Demonstration Scores as Covariate	48
7.	Factorial Analysis of Variance: Group Posttest Scores, Gender, and Group Posttest Scores x Gender	51
8.	Factorial Analysis of Variance: Group Posttest Scores, Proximity, and Group Posttest Scores x Proximity	52
9.	Factorial Analysis of Variance: Group Posttest Scores, Masters, and Group Posttest Scores x Masters	53



viii

# LIST OF FIGURES

# FIGURE

1.	A Representative Consept Map: "Living Things"	10
2.	A Description of the Scoring Method of a Concept Map	27
3.	A Representative Concept Map of the Use of the Reference Tools in the ARC	28
4.	A Concept Map for the Topic "Art," Prepared by an Elementary Art Teacher as Part of the Concept Training Session	31
5.	A Concept Map, Prepared by an Elementary Art Teacher as Part of the Posttest, that Effectively Illustrates the Process of Finding Resources in the ARC	35
6.	A Concept Map, Prepared by an Elementary Art Teacher as Part of the Posttest, that Indicates Misunderstandings About the Process of Finding Resources in the ARC	36



#### Chapter I

1

# Introduction

This study utilizes concept mapping as an evaluation tool to measure the effects of bibliographic instruction and Discipline-Based Art Education (DBAE) training on the library skills of elementary art teachers in the Columbus, Ohio Public Schools. Recent changes in the organization of the Arts Resource Center (ARC), a visual arts collection created to provide visuals for the art teachers of the Columbus Public Schools, have made bibliographic instruction desirable so that the collection will be accessible to the teachers even when no staff person is present to assist them.

DBAE training refers to a special form of art education instruction that part of the teachers had already received in a past J. Paul Getty Summer Institute. Whereas more traditional art programs devote most of their attention to getting students involved in the making of visual images, the DBAE approach advocates that art instruction be based on content from the disciplines of art production, art history, art criticism, and aesthetics (Brandt, 1988; The Getty Center for Education in the Arts, 1988). Central to this approach to art education is a strong emphasis on the use of visual resources. Because it was considered possible that DBAE training could produce a teacher more motivated to use the ARC, it was decided that DBAE training



would also be included as a factor in this study.

Concept mapping, the method of evaluation chosen for this study, was selected for its emphasis on the visual representation of thought processes. It seemed especially appropriate to use such an approach with members of a profession whose primary focus is visual communication (Ragans, 1988).

# Definitions of Terms

The following terms were defined in this study as follows:

This abbreviation stands for Arts Resource Center, a small visual arts collection that the Art Department of the Columbus Public Schools maintains to meet the visual and information needs of its art teachers.

# Concept Map

Concept maps can be defined as "diagrams indicating concepts and their interrelations in both the vertical and horizontal dimensions (Schmid & Telaro, 1990). The resulting map represents the creator's conceptual organization of the topic. A concept map, according to Novak (1984, p. 609)," must have (a) a hierarchical structure, (b) relationships between concepts identified, and (c) more specific concepts subsumed under more inclusive concepts."

#### DBAE Instruction

DBAE refers to Discipline-Based Art Education, a philosophy



13

of art education that is gaining national recognition (Brandt, 1988). Discipline-based art programs are intended to provide systematic, sequential teaching in the four things people do with the arts: they make works of art, they appreciate art, they learn to understand art in relation to cultures, and they make judgments about the arts. These four major operations, also referred to as the four "disciplines" of DBAE, are art production, art criticism, art history, and aesthetics (Brandt, 1988). For the purposes of this study, DBAE instruction means the participation of a teacher in the J. Paul Getty 3-week DBAE training session.

#### Bibliographic Instruction

Bibliographic instruction, also called "user education" is defined as "the teaching of information-seeking processes and the organization and services of libraries" (Mensching, 1989). The bibliographic instruction in this study was designed to last an hour and consisted of the following. First, a brief overview of the major bibliographic tools of the ARC was given to the group. Next, each of the subjects was given a unique list of tasks to perform that involved them with these bibliographic tools. Lastly, the subjects were asked as a group to give suggestions on how they would locate information and visuals on the broad topic of "cubism."

# Statement of the Hypotheses

Because this study focuses primarily on the relationship



34

between bibliographic instruction and library skills, the main question under study then becomes:

(Q1) Are there any differences in achievement between groups that receive bibliographic instruction and groups that do not?

4

The possible effect of DBAE training leads to the second question under study:

(Q2) Are there any differences in achievement between groups that receive DBAE instruction and groups that do not? The third question addresses the possible interactive effects of the two forms of instruction:

(Q3) Are there any differences in achievement between the group that receives both bibliographic and DBAE instruction and those groups that do not? These questions produce the following null hypotheses:

H(0)1 There is no statistically significant difference in achievement between groups that receive bibliographic instruction and those groups that do not.

H(0)2 There is no statistically significant difference in achievement between groups that receive DBAE instruction and those groups that do not.

H(0)3 There is no statistically significant difference in achievement between the group that receives both bibliographic and DBAE instruction and those groups that do



not.

H(0)4 There is no statistically significant difference in achievement between the group that received neither bibliographic nor DBAE instruction and those groups that receive either or both forms of instruction.

The following research hypotheses are then offered:

H(R)1 Groups that receive bibliographic instruction score significantly higher on a concept map test than those groups that do not receive the instruction.

H(R)2 Groups that receive DBAE instruction score significantly higher on a concept map test than those groups that do not receive the instruction.

H(R)3 The group that receives both bibliographic and DEAE instruction scores significantly higher on a concept map test than those groups that do not receive both forms of instruction.

H(R)4 The group that receives neither bibliographic nor DBAE instruction scores significantly lower on a concept map test than those who receive either or both forms of instruction.

#### Assumptions

For the purposes of this study it was assumed: (a) that the elementary art teachers participating in this study were within the normal range of ability and achievement; (b) that the teachers



10

were somewhat familiar with the ARC and were fully capable of performing the tasks associated with the bibliographic instruction; and (c) that participating teachers attempted to perform to the best of their ability on the concept mapping and the bibliographic instruction.

#### <u>Limitations</u>

The population of the study was limited to the 44 elementary art teachers of the Columbus Public Schools. The sample consisted of 37 of these teachers: five declined to take part and two were ineligible to participate because of their previous involvement with the ARC. That most of the teachers (approximately 81%) were female limits the generalizability of the study, as does the fact that all are employed by the Columbus Public Schools, and that all teach elementary art. A further limitation is the small number of subjects.

The instrument used to measure the possible effects of the two variables of the study was not a nationally normed instrument. Furthermore, a standardized form of bibliographic instruction was not used; instead, task sheets were specifically designed for this study. These points further limit the generalizability of the findings.

## Chapter Summary

This study utilizes the concept map as an assessment tool to evaluate the possible effects of both DBAE and bibliographic



17

instruction on the library skills of elementary art teachers in a small visual arts resource center. Concept maps can be described as "diagrams indicating concepts and their interrelations in both the vertical and horizontal dimensions (Schmid & Telaro, 1990). DEAE instruction, a form of art training that is gaining national recognition, was considered as a factor because of its emphasis on the use of visual resources. The generalizability of this study's findings are limited by the fact that most of the subjects are female, and that all are elementary art teachers who teach for the Columbus Public Schools. Other limitations are the small sample size, the use of a form of assessment that is not nationally normed, and the use of a non-standard form of bibliographic instruction.



# Chapter II

8

## Review of the Related Literature

#### Concept Mapping

## Background

A concept map is a "device for representing the conceptual structure of a discipline, or a segment of a discipline, in two dimensions" (Stewart, Kirk, & Rowell, 1979). Developed at Cornell University by Novak and the members of his research group (Novak, 1990), concept mapping derives from Ausubel's assimilation theory which stresses meaningful learning (Ausubel, Novak, & Hanesian, 1978). Meaningful learning results when a person consciously and explicitly ties new knowledge to relevant concepts or propositions they already possess (Okebukola, 1990). It is promoted by the understanding of the hierarchical relationships and linkages of concepts (Ausubel et al., 1978). According to Jegede, Alaiyemola, and Okebukola (1990, p. 957), the main goal of the concept mapping heuristic is to "identify the network of relationships between concepts rather than studying them as discrete isolated entities (rote learning)."

The major work with which to begin when speaking of concept mapping is Novak's and Gowin's <u>Learning how to learn</u> (1984), a book that promotes the concept map as a tool that can be used to help students of all intellectual levels oreate a visual representation of their thought processes and improve their



3.5

thinking skills. The two components of concept mapping are "concepts" and "linking words." Concepts are defined either as "events" (things that happen or can be made to happen) or as "objects" (things that exist and can be observed). A representative concept map from Learning how to learn can be found in Figure 1. In this example, the words "plants" and "animals" represent concepts whose relationship to the concept "living things" is shown by the use of the linking word "contain." Donovan (1983, p. 4) summarizes the process of creating a concept map in three steps:

The first step is to identify the important concepts in the given subject area. These concepts are then ranked from the most general to the most specific. The third step is to arrange the concepts in a hierarchical order, using lines and words that explain the relationship to link the concepts.

It would be almost impossible to read the literature on concept mapping for long without coming across the following quote from the epilogue of <u>Educational Psychology</u>: "If I had to reduce all of educational psychology to just one principal it is this: The most important single factor influencing learning is what the learner knows. Ascertain this and teach him accordingly" (Ausubel et al., 1978). It was Novak's search for better ways to represent "what the learner already knows" that lead to the development of the tool of concept mapping in 1972. At first it was used for research purposes to represent student's knowledge structures before and after instruction, but soon Novak and his students



20



Figure 1. A representative concept map: "Living Things." (From Novak and Gowin, 1984, p. 18)



realized that concept maps could be a useful tool to help students from learning by rote to learning meaningfully (Novak, 1990). The Concept Map as Instructional Tool

Most of the literature written about concept mapping has focused on its use as a tool of instruction - a tool that has been especially used in the discipline of science education (Malone & Dekkers, 1984; Novak, 1979; Novak, 1980; Stewart et al., 1979). Concept mapping has been found to be a particularly useful instructional strategy for high school students learning biology concepts. Because biology consists of "a myriad of unfamiliar concepts involving complex relations," concept mapping appears to be ideally suited to address biology content (Schmid & Telaro, 1990, p. 78). Havel and Treagust (1989) advocate the use of concept maps as visual aids to help functionally illiterate high school biology students develop associations between diagrams and concepts, suggesting that such visual imagery provides a framework for organizing and remembering information. Lovoie and Backus (1990) state that a basic characteristic of concept maps is the specification of relationships between and among diverse pieces of information. They see concept maps as valuable for identifying misconceptions in the student's conceptual framework. Pankratius' (1990) study focuses on the relationship between student concept mapping and achievement, finding that groups that received instruction on concept mapping scored 18.4% higher on an



22

achievement test than groups that received standard instruction. Jegede et al.(1990, p. 957) found concept mapping to significantly lower ( $\mathbf{p} < .05$ ) the anxiety levels of males and females (by 38% and 33%, respectively) toward the learning of biological concepts, "because of the ability of the learner to control, determine, and make decisions about 'the how' and pace of what is learned confers on the learner the advantage of shaking free from the pressures which would otherwise impede meaningful learning." Concept mapping has been used by teachers of all grade levels, from primary (Stice and Alvarez, 1988) to high school (Wandersee, 1990).

# The Concept Map as Assessment Tool

The value of concept mapping as a heuristic has now been established, but its worth as an evaluation tool has yet to be addressed. The studies that have been discussed thus far have primarily used some form of standardized test to measure learning achievement after concept mapping was used as the instructional tool. What literature is there to support the use of the concept map as an assessment tool?

First of all, there are the writings of Novak and Gowin to support this. Their book, <u>Learning how to learn</u> (1984) includes an entire chapter in which they discuss the merits of the concept map as an alternate tool of assessment. A key to be used for the scoring of concept maps is included as well. It is a form of



12

assessment that is superior to a typical multiple-choice standardized test because it yields more than a score; "concept mapping allows one to observe the learning itself" (Novak and Ridley, 1988, p. 11). It also allows the learner to demonstrate all that he or she knows about the topic at hand, not merely what he or she is specifically asked.

Malone and Dekkers (1984) also present a scheme, rather more elaborate than that of Novak and Gowin, devised for scoring concept maps based on Ausubelian learning principles. Their scheme's scoring system can differentiate between different levels of concept development. Other writers who address the issue of the concept map as an evaluation tool include Schmid and Telaro (1990), who suggest that concept maps can and should be extended into the evaluative domain, although they offer no suggestions to just how the maps should be evaluated.

# The Validity of Concept Mapping

Novak and Ridley (1984) argue that concept maps can be said to possess construct validity, that is, a direct correspondence between the elicited performance and theories of learning. Wallace and Mintzes (1990) examine the concurrent validity of concept mapping as a vehicle for documenting and exploring conceptual changes in biology, looking specifically at the extent to which concept maps reveal changes in cognitive structure that result from brief episodes of instructional intervention. They



24

found concept mapping to be the only evaluation approach that attends to both what students know and how they organize their knowledge.

## Related Models in Library and Information Science

As a device for organizing and communicating knowledge, it would seem logical that concept mapping be widely utilized, if not specifically in the area of visual librarianship, at least in the general field of library and information science. This has not been the case, however. Although some library science researchers have created models that analyze the search process, these researchers tend to deal more with theories and models that are related to concept mapping, than with concept mapping itself. Stam (1985) used interviews to find what mental and physical steps that art reference librarians take to answer patrons' questions, but she did not diagram her results. Other writers (Benson & Maloney, 1975; Jahada, Braunagel, & Nath, 1977; Rettig, 1978) have developed diagrams of the search process that resemble communication models. Ridgeway (1983) asked users to create physical maps of library facilities to show how they visually perceived the library. These "mental maps," however, were only capable of demonstrating that a user knew where an item was located, and not that he or she understood how the item could be used. A chart created by Geahigan and Geahigan (1982) for art teachers illustrates a series of search strategies that can be



25

used to locate visuals and information. This chart is linear and does not show the interrelationships that exist among the source, as concept mapping would.

# Concept Map Use in Library and Information Science

To date only two articles could be found that deal with the benefits of concept mapping in the area of library science. Rada, Mili, Letourneau, & Johnston (1988) used concept mapping to both oreate and evaluate entry terms in the Medical Subject Headings (MeSH), a thesaurus used by the National Library of Medicine's bibliographic retrieval system (Medline). Sherratt & Schlabach (1990) found that concept mapping could be used by prospective librarians to illustrate their knowledge about reference service. Although assessment was not the primary goal of their exercise, it was mentioned as a potential benefit of concept mapping for library science.

# Concept Maps and the Visual Arts

No evidence could be found that concept mapping has been explored as an assessment tool for bibliographic instruction in a visual arts collection. A search of the art education literature likewise found no examples of concept mapping ever having been tried for any purpose, although evidence was found of that profession's search for valid alternative approaches to both teaching and assessment. Maitland-Gholson (1990) argues for a stronger emphasis on contextually sensitive, nonstandardized



26

approaches for evaluation in the field of art education. Wilson (1990, p. 61) criticizes the use of standardized tests for the evaluation of art teacher performance, because such tests "may not test knowledge and skills essential to teaching."

#### Bibliographic Instruction

#### <u>Overviev</u>

Eadie (1990, p. 43), defines bibliographic instruction as "instructional programs aimed at groups of library users, delivered on schedule, and in anticipation of questions that have yet been asked, rather than on demand and at point-of-service." Bibliographic instruction first became widely offered by libraries in the 1960s and 1970s in a time when many new and special services were being created (Eadie, 1990). Over the years it has taken many forms, such, as library tours, bibliographic workshops, audiovisual or videotaped instruction, and publication programs. The Lecture Approach

Concerning the different instructional methods that can be employed, there seems to be a consensus of opinion that the lecture method, especially when used alone, is the weakest. Rosenblum (1983) finds lectures to be inefficient, since it is difficult for students to retain information on sources that they have only heard about. He maintains that "library use is a skill and the art for which classroom experience is no substitute" (Rosenblum, 1983, p. 9). Allen (1990) believes the lecture method



27

to be ineffective because an individual's attention span is only about 20 minutes and that students can learn better when they are active participants in the learning process. Sheridan (1990) criticizes in general any method of bibliographic instruction that is passive, and she advocates in its place bibliographic instruction methods that more actively involve the user.

# The Media Approach

Other methods of instruction mentioned in the literature include the use of special media, such as slides (Fry & Kaplowitz, 1988), interactive video (Rodkewich & Kautz, 1989), and computerassisted instruction (Madland & Smith, 1988). It was reported that these media have the advantage of being effective in their abilities to hold the attention of the user, but they are complicated and expensive to produce and maintain. In fact, Rodkewich and Kautz (1989) were not able to evaluate the effectiveness of their interactive videos before the videotapes wore out.

# The Experience-Based Approach

The method of bibliographic instruction that was found in the literature most similar to that chosen by this study was the experience-based approach used by McCutcheon (1990). Since 1982, he has been experimenting with "scavenger hunts" as an approach to giving his students a "hands-on" research experience. McCutcheon (1990) reported that such a method allowed his learners to apply



23

what they had learned about bibliographic tools in a meaningful way. It was hoped that the task lists developed for this study would similarly grant the subjects the opportunity to learn through experience. An added benefit of such an instructional approach method is that it is inexpensive to produce; the only cost is in the time spent in planning the "hunts" or "tasks."

# Chapter Summary

It is apparent that this study represents an attempt to break ground in the field of library and information science, in that no other research has specifically tested the potential value of the concept map as a tool to quantitatively assess the effects of bibliographic instruction. This study also represents a first attempt to use the technique of concept mapping in art education, in that DRAE training is also a factor under consideration.

Various approaches have been taken to bibliographic Instruction over the years. Those based on the lecture appear to be ineffective because the user is not given the opportunity to work with the tools, and information that is not applied is soon forgotten. Media approaches seem to hold the interest of the user, but they are expensive and complicated to produce. Bibliographic instruction approaches such as "scavenger hunts" grant the user the opportunity to learn through experience. Such methods are also inexpensive. A similar approach was used by the this study, in that "task lists" were the main instructional tool.

20



-18

#### Chapter III

# Methodology

## Research Design

A 2 x 2 factorial posttest-only control group design was chosen for this study. According to Campbell and Stanley (1963), this is an experimental design that controls for all of the internal sources of invalidity: history, maturation, testing, instrumentation, regression, selection, experiment mortality, and selection-maturation interaction. A factor jeopardizing external validity that is specifically controlled for by this design is the reactive or interaction effect of testing, "in which a pretest might increase or decrease the respondent's sensitivity or responsiveness to the experimental variable" (Campbell & Stanley, 1963, p. 6).

The strength of factorial designs is that they can deal with more than one independent variable, in this case, bibliographic and DEAE instruction. According to Powell (1985), factorial designs allow the researcher not only to measure the specific effects of the independent variables on the dependent variable, but they should also give some indication of interaction. Because of this, factorial designs tend to be high in external validity (Powell, 1985).

The factoring in of the possible effects of DBAE instruction on the outcome was accomplished by splitting a list of the names



**3**.

of teachers who had received DBAE training (approximately onefourth of the total number of teachers), and then randomly assigning half to the control group and half to the experimental group. The rest of the teachers were then assigned to one group or the other. It was originally intended that the DBAEtrained/experimental and the non-DBAE-trained/control groups would be of equal size. However, a few of the eligible teachers declined to take part in the study, resulting in groups of unequal number.

#### Threats to Internal and External Validity

#### Internal Validity Threats

Because no pretest is given in the posttest-only control group design it is said to control for the effects of testing, that is, the effects of taking a test on the scores of a second testing (Campbell & Stanley, 1963). In the course of this study's concept mapping instruction, however, the teachers were asked to construct a demonstration concept map on a topic different from that which would be later tested. A possibility existed, therefore, that performance on the posttest concept map may have been affected by the subjects' experience with the demonstration concept map.

The uniqueness of the ARC (no evidence of the existence of another school visual arts collection could be found) was an additional threat to the validity of the study. Because many of



31

the its reference tools are designed specifically for the ARC, it would be difficult to locate a standardized test against which the concurrent validity of the concept map as an assessment tool could be established.

# External Validity Threats

Although the study took place over a relatively short period of time (8 days total), there was some loss of participants due to illness. The fact that three subjects were absent due to illness for the posttest threatens the external validity of the study. This loss added to the already existing problem that the groups, particularly the DBAE-trained ones, were too small. That one of the groups contained only four subjects and another six certainly was a further threat to external validity.

An additional disrupting factor to the study was an ice storm that occurred on the morning of the experimental treatment, resulting in a shortened bibliographic instruction time and agitated subjects. It is certainly possible that the bibliographic instruction would have been more effective under less chaotic conditions.

# Site and Subject Selection

# Site Selection

The ARC was chosen as the site for this study because its resources had been recently reorganized and bibliographic instructic... seemed desirable. It was also a convenient, since the



32

author of this study is also the person in charge of the ARC. It seemed logical that the study take place at a library with which the author was so familiar, and where she had so much control. <u>Subject Selection</u>

Although any teacher employed by the Columbus Public Schools may use the ARC if they so wish, the approximately 44 elementary art teachers were chosen as the population. It was limited to the art teachers because the ARC was originally begun by the Art Department, and the primary focus of the collection has been on visual resources to aid art teachers. Whereas "classroom" elementary teachers may request "a picture of people involved in their occupation," or "holiday pictures," art teachers tend to ask for visuals in terms that reflect their art training. Art teachers were singled out as the population because the collection of the ARC is indexed with the art specialist in mind.

The population was further limited to the elementary art teachers because they are farily homogeneous as a group in terms of their experience with the ARC. Only the elementary art teachers are required to attend a weekly meeting at the high school where the ARC is located, and they often visit the ARC after the meeting to check out resources. Because of this, the elementary art teachers have had as a group much more opportunity to become familiar with the ARC than have the middle and high school art teachers.



33

#### Human subjects review

Before the study was begun, permission was obtained from the Art Supervisor of the Columbus Public Schools. Additionally, examples of both a concept map and a task list were submitted to the Kent State University Human Subjects Review Board as part of the "Application for Approval to use Human Subjects." Appendix A is a copy of the application that was submitted. Included with this application is the form used to obtain the informed consent of the 37 elementary art teachers who ultimately agreed to serve as the subjects for this study. Data collection and analyses were conducted in such a manner as to insure complete confidentiality, and no data from individual teacher performance were made available to anyone. Approval to proceed with the study was given, Feb. 6, 1991, by Dr. Judith Vilmain.

#### Characteristics of the Subjects

At the top of the worksheets that the subjects used for the construction of their concept maps were four questions that elicited information about the subjects. Appendix B is a copy of the worksheet. A tally of the answers to these questions revealed that

- 1. Thirty (approx. 81%) were female.
- 2. Twenty-four (approx. 65%) worked at an school at a distance of fifteen minutes or more in driving time away from the ARC.



- 3. Eight (approx. 22%) had earned their Masters.
- Twenty-four (approx. 65%) had five or less years of teaching experience.

This information was solicited to provide additional factors to consider for their possible correlation with posttest performance.

#### Conditions of Testing and Treatment

#### Concept Mapping Training Conditions

The concept map training took place early on a Monday morning (about 7:30 a.m.) during the time that is usually allotted for the elementary art teachers' required weekly meeting. The instruction, which lasted approximately one hour, was administered to the whole group at once in a large room in the Ft. Hayes High School for the Visual Arts. A chalkboard was used by the instructor for the demonstration of the concept mapping technique. Bibliographic Instruction Conditions

The experimental treatment took place in the ARC on the Friday following the concept map training session. Once again the instruction took place at an early hour (around 8:00 a.m.). The ARC is housed in a large Civil War era building that has been converted into an art high school, the Ft. Hayes High School for the Visual Arts. The ARC is located on a floor without internal walls, and it shares space with the painting and printing classes. Shelves and cabinets are arranged in such a way to delineate the area allotted to the ARC. No high school classes were being held



35

on the day of the experimental treatment, so disturbance from the students was avoided. The previously mentioned ice storm, however, caused unexpected problems since it caused the teachers to be somewhat agitated and instructional time to be lost.

Conditions for the posttest, which took place on the Monday morning following the bibliographic instruction, were essentially the same as those for the concept map instruction session. Again instruction took place around 7:30 a.m. in the same large room where the concept mapping training session had been held.

#### Instrument

Concept mapping is the tool of evaluation used by this study. Teachers were asked to construct a concept map that would be graded to assess their skill in locating resources in the ARC. It should be pointed out that concept mapping was used solely as the instrument of evaluation; it was not used as part of the treatment. In this way the study differs from the others dealing with concept mapping as an assessment tool, in that other studies employed concept mapping as both the teaching and the assessment tool.

The following brief explanation of the method that was used to score the concept maps is based upon criteria set laid out by Novak and Gowin (1984):

1. Propositions - if the relationship between two concepts indicated by a linking word is valid, score 1 point.



30
- Hierarchy if the map shows hierarchy with each subordinate more specific than the concept above it, score
  points for each valid level.
- 3. Cross links if the map shows a meaningful connection between one segment of the hierarchy and another segment, score 10 points.
- 4. Examples Specific events or objects that are valid examples of those designated by the concept label can be scored as 1 point each.

The score on a concept map is presented as a total value that is measured on the interval scale. For an illustration from <u>Learning</u> <u>how to learn</u> (Novak & Gowin, 1984) of how this scoring system works, see Figure 2.

Figure 3 is a representative concept map that was designed to illustrate how the instructor would map the process she would use in locating resources in the ARC. It also serves as an example of a scored map. This sample concept map is in no way intended to be an absolute template of the "correct" way to map this process. As Schmid and Telaro (1990, p.79) point out, "a given topic may be accurately represented by a concept map in a variety of ways." This map was not used as part of the bibliographic training for fear that doing so would interfere with independent creative thinking. Schmidt and Telaro (1990, p. 84) warn against the use of teacher constructed maps before learners have had the



37

#### Sooring Model



Figure 2: A description of the scoring method of a concept map. (From Novak and Gowin, 1984, p. 37)

**BEST COPY AVAILABLE** 



33



Figure : A representative concept map of the use of the reference tools in the ARC Topic searched "Surrealism



30 DEST COPY ANALABLE

opportunity to construct their own maps, saying that such a practice "will likely produce the same kind of rote memorization already so common in the schools."

## Procedure

The entire study was carried out over a period of eight days (Feb. 11-18, 1991) and involved three sessions:

- During a Monday morning teacher's meeting, all subjects were introduced to concept mapping as a group.
- 2. The following Friday, during a teacher conference day, the experimental group received bibliographic instruction as a group.
- 3. The following Monday, the subjects were was asked to construct a concept map depicting the steps they would take to find visuals and information in the ARC.

#### Concept Map Training

During the first session of the study, the instructor carefully followed the procedures laid out by Novak and Gowin (1984, p. 32-35) for introducing concept mapping in grades seven through college. The art teachers were introduced to <u>objects</u>, <u>events</u>, and <u>linking words</u>, the primary components of concept mapping. They were taught how to arrange the object and event words (the concepts) in hierarchical order, from the general to specific, and how to link these concepts together in a meaningful fashion. The instructor constructed a simple concept map, then



29

4.

one was created as a group, and finally each teacher was asked to create a map on his or her own. The topic given for the teachers to map was "art," chosen because it was their area of expertise. It was hoped that the use of such a familiar topic would make concept mapping easier for their first independent attempt. Figure 4 dis one of the better-executed demonstration maps constructed during this session. Note the effective use of hierarchical levels the proceed from general concepts to the specific.

## Bibliog ic Instruction

The bibliographic instruction treatment consisted of a onehour training session intended to acquaint the teachers in the experimental group with the bibliographic tools of the ARC. Appendix C is a list of the major categories of the formats housed in the ARC, how they have been organized, and the tools that have been created to index each format. A general introduction to the bibliographic tools was followed by the distribution of lists of ten tasks for each teacher to carry out. These lists can be found in Appendix D. Each task was designed to involve the art teacher with a bibliographic tool of the ARC. Except for the final task, the procedure for carrying out each task was given, and the teachers had to follow the procedures to answer a given question or find a required item. To encourage individual initiative, no two task lists were the same, although the lists were similar in complexity. Approximately the same number of sources were



30

41 <u>\_</u>



A concept map for the topic, "ait," prepared by an elementary art teacher as part Eugure 4

of the convept map training session

**BEST COPY AVEL 201E** 

31

: : 1

required to be consulted in the course of completing the task list. Furthermore, the tasks did not require the use of bibliographic tools in the same order so that the process would be able to flow as smoothly as possible. A problem with congestion was not expected in any case, since each teacher was also given his or her own copy of the ARC catalog which contains many of the bibliographic tools.

The final task, which was to be performed by the entire group jointly, was designed to encourage the art teacher to use a variety of the tools to find visuals and information on the broad topic of "cubism." Procedures were not given for this task; it was hoped that the teachers would begin to think conceptually about how to locate items in the ARC. At this point the instructor solicited suggestions from the teachers about what procedures could be used to find as many resources as possible on the topic. The suggestions that were valid were carried out and the resources were located.

#### DBAE Instruction

The second form of treatment, the DEAE instruction, had taken place prior to the study. DEAE instruction meant that a teacher had participated in a J. Paul Getty three-week summer institute. Although DEAE training is sponsored in several states by the J. Paul Getty Trust, in Columbus the training is presented by The Ohio Partnership for the Visual Arts, a consortium formed in 1988



44

by the Columbus Public Schools, the Ohio State University, and the Columbus Museum of Art. A brief description of a past institute is as follows (The Ohio Partnership, 1990):

The three-week program was designed to present the recognized four DBAE disciplines to school teachers using local and national experts. The ultimate intent is to demonstrate the translation of DBAE theory into classroom practice. The expert presentations focused on works of art and the world of art. Several of the presentations were made by discipline experts; others were followed up by visits to artists' studios, art galleries, or museums.

#### Posttest

Before the teachers were asked to draw their concept maps, a quick review of the technique was given. They were then told the topic of their concept map: they were to map the steps that they would take in systematically finding resources in the ARC. The topic was to be simplified as "finding resources." A list of some key concepts pertaining to the ARC were then written on the chalkboard. These included: books, art dictionaries, computer, prints, educational packages, slides, topic, catalog, periodicals, card catalog, boxed prints, and artist. The teachers were told that these words were only a suggested list, and they were invited to incorporate any additional relevant concepts they could think of into their own maps. The teachers were then given about twenty



43

minutes to execute their concept maps, although most completed them within about ten minutes. Figure 5 is one of the posttest concept maps that illustrates the ARC search process especially well, in that it correctly illustrated the use of the bibliographic tools of the ARC. Especially impressive is the subject's use of cross-links to indicate that information found by one source can be utilized to generate searches in others. Figure 6 is an example of a posttest concept map that indicates the misconceptions a teacher holds about the way the ARC's materials are indexed. It is not true, for example, that books are indexed on the computer, or that art prints are indexed in the card catalog.

## Data Analyses

Upon the completion of data collection, various data analysis applying descriptive and inferential statistical techniques were conducted. Brief descriptions of the analyses will be included in this section. The SAS Statistical Package, Version 6.06 (SAS Institute, Inc., 1990) was used with the IBM mainframe system to analyze the data. Because the groups were unequal in size the general linear model was employed. The test of least square means was used to adjust for unequal cell sizes.

## Descriptive Statistical Techniques

The principal descriptive statistics included measures of central tendency (mean, median, mode) on all variables. Measures

4: U





Figure 5. A concept map, prepared by an elementary art teacher as part of the posttest, that effectively illustrates the process of finding resources in the ARC.

BEST COPY AVAILABLE





Figure  $\delta$ : A concept map, prepared by an elementary art teacher as part of a posttest. that indicates misunderstandings about the process of finding resources in the ARC.

BEST COPY AVAILABLE



of variability (standard deviation, range) were examined and scatterplots of the variables were created.

### Inferential Statistical Techniques

A two-way analysis of variance was use to test the research hypotheses. An alpha level of .05 was the level of significance adopted for this study. Analysis of variance was used to test any unhypothesized three-way interactions that may have occurred. Gender, proximity of job to the ARC, and possession of a Masters degree were all analyzed for their possible correlations with the scores of the four groups under study. To determine whether demonstration concept map scores could be significantly correlated with posttest concept map scores, a two-way analysis of covariance was employed. And finally, a multiple linear regression analysis was performed to determine if the score on each of the concept map components (relations, hierarchy, cross-links, and examples) contributed significantly to the total concept map score.

#### Chapter Summary

This chapter discussed the design of the study, a 2 x 2 factorial posttest-only control group design. The design's strengths were listed, along with possible threats to the study's internal and external validity. Information concerning the site and subject selection was given, as well as the conditions of testing and treatment. A brief explanation of the process used to score a concept map, this study's instrument, was included to



37

÷...

explain how it functions as an assessment tool. The three sessions of the study were described in the procedures section. And finally, the descriptive and inferential statistical techniques used to analyze the data were listed.



#### Chapter 4

## Findings

### Report of the Descriptive Data Analyses

#### Group Posttest Scores

The summary data on the group posttest scores can be found in Table 1. Mean scores for the four groups ranged from 8.5 to 29.83, with the highest mean scores belonging to the group that had experienced both forms of instruction. The lowest mean score was received by the group that had received the DBAE trainingonly. The greatest range within a group's posttest scores was displayed by the group that had received the bibliographic training (range = 101). This was also the group that contained the greatest number of subjects (n = 15). The DBAE/Bibliographic instruction group demonstrated the greatest variability (SD = 22.26).

## Group Demonstration Scores

A summary of the descriptive data on the demonstration scores can be found in Table 2. "Demonstration scores" refers to the scores of those demonstration concept maps that the subjects constructed as part of the concept map training. They are not to be considered pretest scores. Once again, the mean score was highest for the group that had received DBAE instruction and would later receive the bibliographic instruction. Despite the fact that randomization had been employed in the assignment of the



51

Group Training	n	M	median	mode	range	SD
None	12	19.16	19	19	50	15.13
DBAE	4	8.50	7	0	20	10.12
Bibliog.	15	25.60	23	24	101	22.30
DBAE/Bibliog.	6	29.83	25	0	81	27.42

Means of the Posttest Concept Map Scores by Group Training



Table 2

Means of the Demonstration Concept Map Scores by Group Training

Group Training	n	M	median	mode	range	SD
None	12	36.17	34.50	14	48	16.72
DBAE	4	42.25	44.00	23	51	21.23
Bibliog.	15	38.67	37.00	46	74	16.21
DBAE/Bibliog.	6	55.33	48.00	34	57	22.26



subjects to the groups, some pretreatment differences seem to have existed among the four groups. The mean scores vary widely, from a low of 34.5 to a high of 48 points, among the four groups before the experimental treatment was administered. The two groups that had received the DBAE training scored higher than those groups that had not. As with the posttest scores, the greatest range within a group score was exhibited by the DBAE-only group (range = 74), and the DBAE/bibliographic instruction group displayed the greatest variability ( $\underline{SD} = 27.42$ ).

# Comparison of Posttest and Demonstration Scores

A comparison of the means of the demonstration and posttest scores can be found in Table 3. It is interesting to note that all four groups scored higher on the demonstration than on the posttest concept maps. The average group decrease was 59%. The following is the rank order of mean scores, from highest to lowest by group for the demonstration concept maps: DBAE/bibliographic instruction, DBAE instruction-only, bibliographic instructiononly, and no instruction. The rank order, from highest to lowest for the posttest concept map scores is: DBAE/bibliographic instruction, bibliographic instruction-only, no instruction, and DBAE instruction-only.

#### The Lesser Factors

Table 4 gives the descriptive data for the posttest group scores by the lesser factors of gender, proximity of



# Means and Standard Deviations of the Demonstration and

# Posttest Scores for the Four Groups

Group		De	<b>no</b> .	Posttest	
	n	M	SD	¥	SD
None	î.2	34 . 50	16.72	19.16	15.13
DBAE	4	44.00	21.23	8.50	10.12
Bibliog.	15	37.00	16.21	25.60	22.30
DBAE/Bibliog.	б	48.00	22.26	29.83	27.42



<u>Mean Scores and Standard Deviations of Posttest Group Scores</u> <u>x Three Lesser Factors: Gender, Masters, and Proximity</u>

			Bibliographic Training					
					yes			
		₽	đ	<u>SD</u>	Ð	Ħ	<u>50</u>	
Bibliographic tuining a DBAE training x gende	k PT							
No DBAE training	tiale	2	34.50	21.92	4	42.75	39.93	
	Female	10	16.10	12.80	11	19.36	7.58	
DBAE training	liale			•	1	23.00		
	Female	4	8.50	10.12	5	31.20	30.42	
Bibliographic training DBAE training x prox	X imity							
No BBAE training	0-14 mins	. 6	25.83	17.34	5	37.80	35.42	
	15-29 min	s. 5	13.80	10.38	8	19.63	10.53	
	30+ mins	. 1	6.00		2	19.00	7.07	
DBAE training	1-14 mins	:. <b>1</b>	0.00		1	32.00		
	15-29 min	s. 2	10.00	14.14	5	29.40	30.63	
	30+ mins	. 1	14.00		•			



Table 4 (Continued)

		<b>19</b> 11	bliograp	hio !	freining	J
		100			yes	
	<b>n</b>	đ	<u>SD</u>	<u>n</u>	<u>ц</u>	<u>SD</u>
Bibliographic training DBAE training x edu	x					
No DBAE treining	tiasters 3	25.00	22.60	4	19.75	6.02
	No Masters 9	17.22	13.04	11	27.73	25.82
DBAE training	Masters 1	0.00		6	29.83	27.42
	No tiesters 3	10.33	10.26			

place of work to ARC, and possession of a Masters degree. Because these factors were not figured into the original design of the study, they were not evenly distributed among the four groups. As a result, some of the possible combinations listed in the table did not occur. The highest mean group posttest score by gender was achieved by males who had received the bibliographic instruction-only. When considering proximity, the highest mean score was achieved by the group that had received bibliographic instruction-only and whose work was located 14 minutes or less in driving time from the ARC. And finally, the highest mean score when considering possession of a Masters degree was achieved by the group that had received both forms of instruction and whose members had received their Masters degree.

# Report of the Inferential Data Analyses Testing of the Research Hypotheses

A two-way analysis of variance was conducted on the posttest scores to determine whether DBAE instruction, bibliographic instruction, or an interaction of the two had a significant effect on achievement, with .05 being the acceptable level of significance. The research hypotheses under study were:

H(R)1 Groups that receive bibliographic instruction score significantly higher on a concept map test than those groups that do not receive the instruction.

H(R)2 Groups that receive DBAE instruction score



46

significantly higher on a concept map test than those groups that do not receive the instruction.

H(R)3 The group that receives both bibliographic and DBAE instruction scores significantly higher on a concept map test than those groups that do not receive both forms of instruction.

H(R)4 The group that receives neither bibliographic nor DBAE instruction scores significantly lower on a concept map test than those who receive either or both forms of instruction.

The data in Table 5 show that the main effects for DBAE and for bibliographic instruction did not attain significance. There was also no significant interaction between DBAE and bibliographic instruction. The p value (.0777) for the group that received bibliographic instruction-only came the closest to approaching the accepted alpha level of p < .05. Based on the findings of this analysis, the four research hypotheses must be rejected. Correlation of Demonstration and Posttest Scores

A two-way analysis of covariance was performed to determine whether group demonstration concept map scores could be significantly correlated with posttest concept map scores. As Table 6 reports, no significant correlation between the scores could be found. This indicates that demonstration concept map performance could not be used to predict posttest concept map

10



<u>Two-Way Analysis of Variance: DBAE Instruction. Bibliographic</u> <u>Instruction. and DBAE x Bibliographic Instruction</u>

Source	df	ms	E	<u>p</u> 1
Total	36			
DBAE	1	73.03	0.18	. 6759
Bibliog.	1	1360.56	3.13	. 0777
DBAE x Bibliog.	1	391.78	0.55	. 3357
Residual	33	410.46		

1<u>Note</u>. None of the values came close to the critical value of p < .05.



<u>Two-Way Analysis of Covariance: Group Posttest Scores with</u> <u>Demonstration Scores as Covariate</u>

Source	df	ms	E	<u>p</u> 1
Total	36			
DBAE	3	232.16	0.65	. 5912
Bibliog.	1	1152.11	3.21	. 0836
DBAE x Bibliog.	3	416.01	1.16	. 3421
Residual	29	358.82		

**i**<u>Note</u>. None of the values came close to the critical value of p < .05.



- - - -

performance.

## Testing of Unhypothesized Interactions

An analysis of variance was used to test for possible unhypothesized three-way interactions between the test scores of the four groups and the factors of gender, proximity of job to the ARC, and possession of a Masters degree. The results of this analysis has been broken down into three tables. Tables 7-9 indicate that there were no significant three-way interactions between group posttest scores and gender, proximity, or possession of a Masters degree.

## Significance of Concept Map Components

To determine if the score on each of the concept map components (relations, hierarchy, cross-links, and examples) contributed significantly to the total concept score, a multiple linear regression analysis was used. All four of the components were found to account significantly (at p = .01) for the variability of the posttest concept map score.

## Report of the Follow-up Analyses

It was assumed when this study was designed that there would be no missing scores in the data set. However, due to illness, two subjects were absent for the concept map training session (one from the DBAE/bibliographic instruction group, and one from the group that received neither form of instruction), while three were absent from the posttest (in this case, all were from the group



62

Factorial Analysis of Variance: Group Posttest Scores.

Source	df	ms	E	<b>p</b> 1
Total	36			
Group	3	268.86	0.71	. 5522
Gender	1	526.89	1.40	. 2466
Group x Gender	2	326.05	0.86	.4317
Residual	30	377.34		

Gender, and Group Posttest Scores x Gender

**i**<u>Note</u>. None of the values came close to the critical value of p < .05.



Factorial Analysis of Variance: Group Posttest Scores.

Source	<u>df</u>	ms	<u>F</u>	<u>D</u>
Total	36			
Group	3	426.97	0.95	.4327
Proximity	2	103.37	0.23	. 7968
Group x Proximity	5	135.33	0.30	. 9084
Residual	28	451.21		

Proximity, and Group Posttest Scores x Proximity

1<u>Note</u>. None of the values came close to the critical value of  $\underline{p} < .05$ .



÷ ...

Factorial Analysis of Variance: Group Posttest Scores.

Source	df	ms	E	p <sup>1</sup>
Total	36			
Group	3	391.93	. 90	.4547
Masters	1	62.77	. 14	. 7075
Group x Masters	2	192.08	.44	. 6487
Residual	30	437.53		

Masters, and Group Posttest Scores x Masters

1<u>Note</u>. None of the values came close to the critical value of p < .05.



that received neither form of instruction). It was decided that gaps in the data would be filled by determining the mean score of the group to which a particular missing score belonged, and using that score as a logical substitute for the missing score.

#### Chapter Summary

The four hypotheses of this study investigated the effects of DBAE and bibliographic instruction on library skills as measured by a concept map score. This chapter presented descriptive and inferential data that lead to the rejection of the four hypotheses. In addition to the main factors under study, other lesser factors were analyzed for any unhypothesized three-way interactions that may have occurred. No evidence of significant three-way interactions could be found for any of these lesser variables.

In addition to presenting the data concerning the main and lesser factors of this study, this chapter presented data having to do with two additional analyses that were performed. These analyses found that demonstration concept map scores could not be significantly correlated with posttest concept map scores, and that all four concept map components contributed significantly to the variability of the total posttest concept map score. Finally, this chapter explained the process used to replace missing concept map scores.



68

#### Chapter V

## Discussion

## Overview of the Study

This study investigated the use of the concept map to assess the effects of both bibliographic and Discipline-Based (DBAE) instruction on the library skills of elementary art teachers in a visual resource center. A 2 x 2 factorial posttest-only control group design, an experimental design, was chosen for this study. The two independent variables, bibliographic and DBAE instruction were operationalized as follows. Bibliographic instruction consisted of a one-hour session during which the subjects were asked to perform tasks that actively involved them with the reference tools of the Arts Resource Center (ARC). DBAE instruction, which was factored into the design of the study, means the participation of a subject in a past J. Paul Getty DBAE Institute.

The dependent variable, library skills, was operationalized as the subject's score on a concept map. A concept map can be defined as a "device for representing the conceptual structure of a discipline or segment of a discipline in two dimensions" (Schmid & Telaro, 1990). The concept map was originally designed by Novak in 1972 to serve as an instructional tool (Novak, 1990), and it has been widely used as such in the field of science education (Schmid & Telaro, 1990). Concept mapping has also been used by



67

science educators for assessment purposes, because it yields more than a score; "concept mapping allows one to observe the learning itself" (Novak & Ridley, 1983, p. 11).

Concept maps have been little used in library and information science thus far (Sherratt & Schlabach, 1990), and a search of the art education literature found no evidence that it has ever been used in art education. This study can, therefore, be considered exploratory both for the disciplines of library and information science and for art education, since it appears that no other research has specifically tested the potential value of concept mapping to quantitatively assess the effects of either bibliographic or DBAE instruction. This study is also to be considered exploratory for its attempt to identify correlations between the two main factors and the following lesser factors: gender, proximity of work to the ARC, and possession of a Masters degree.

## Discussion of Findings

## The Main Factors

The following are the research hypotheses that were under study:

H(R)1 Groups that receive bibliographic instruction soore significantly higher on a concept map test than those groups that do not receive the instruction.

H(R)2 Groups that receive DBAE instruction score



60

significantly higher on a concept map test than those groups that do not receive the instruction.

H(R)3 The group that receives both bibliographic and DEAE instruction scores significantly higher on a concept map test than those groups that do not receive both forms of instruction.

H(R)4 The group that receives neither bibliographic nor DBAE instruction scores significantly lower on a concept map test than those who receive either or both forms of instruction.

A two-way analysis of variance was used to test the research hypotheses, the alpha level of .05 being the level of significance adopted by this study. The results of this analyses lead to the rejection of all four of the research hypotheses and the acceptance of the null hypotheses. There appeared to be no statistically significant differences among the four groups under study. Of the four groups, the bibliographic instruction-only group came the closest to achieving significance ( $\mathbf{p} = .0777$ ).

It can be concluded then, that for this sample, the null hypotheses were accepted. The groups that received bibliographic instruction did not score significantly higher on a concept map test measuring library skills than did those groups that did not receive the instruction. Likewise, DBAE instruction did not result in significantly higher scores for those who had received

60



that form of training. And finally, the groups that received both forms of instruction did not score significantly higher than all other groups.

## Additional Findings

The result of the analysis of variance that tested for possible three-way interactions between the test scores of the four groups and the lesser factors (gender, proximity, and masters) indicated that no significant three-way interactions occurred. A two-way analysis of covariance found that group demonstration concept scores could not be significantly correlated with posttest concept map scores (p = .4317). And finally, all of the concept map components contributed significantly (in this case p < .01) to the total posttest concept map score.

## Discussion of Limitations

The limitations of this study are many, and they have to do with almost every aspect of the study. Had the research hypotheses been supported, it could have been concluded that the forms of training were successful. The results as they stand, however, are confounded. Did the two main factors under consideration (bibliographic and DBAE instruction), as well as the four lesser factors (gender, masters, proximity, and years of teaching experience) really have no effect on library skills, and therefore the concept maps drawn by the elementary art teachers were an accurate reflection of this reality? Or did one or more



70

of these factors really contribute to better library skills, and the concept maps were not an accurate indicator of the knowledge and skills that the art teachers possessed?

It is possible that the concept maps were, in fact, an accurate reflection of the teachers' library skills, but without a second test form with which to compare results, it is impossible to say whether or not concept mapping is a valid tool of assessment in terms of its ability to produce a score that truly reflects the knowledge that a learner possesses. Wallace and Mintzes (1990) were prudent to use a more conventional testing instrument along with concept mapping to establish its concurrent validity. In hindsight, the value of a second test form becomes very clear. Even so, it is easy to find fault with the two forms of training, and to give explanations for why they may not have been effective. These and other limitations of the study will now be discussed.

#### Subject Selection

There were originally 42 elementary art teachers who were eligible to take part in this study. However, five teachers declined saying that they did not want to be bothered. It is of course impossible to verify, but these teachers gave the impression that they would probably have made uncooperative subjects had they participated. If this is indeed the case, then it is possible that their absence could have caused the



71

bibliographic and/or the DBAE instruction to appear to be more effective than these forms of instruction actually were, lowering the external validity of the study.

## Bibliographic Instruction

### Insufficient instruction time

The bibliographic instruction was described as a single training session using task lists to involve those teachers in the experimental group with the bibliographic tools of the ARC. One session may have been an adequate amount of instruction time, had not an ice storm occurred on the morning of the session. Teachers arrived late in what appeared to be in a much harried condition, and the starting time had to be delayed until they had all arrived. This caused the bibliographic instruction time to be lessened from 60 to 40 minutes. Because the teachers were required to attend a meeting immediately after the allotted time period for the bibliographic instruction, they could not be asked to stay longer to recover the time lost at the beginning of the session. Although most of the teachers were able to complete most of their task sheets, little time remained for the last task, a much broader question which was to have been discussed and researched as a group.

## Distracted subjects

Another problem with the bibliographic instruction session concerns the lack of seriousness that some of the teachers gave to



72

the session. Perhaps the excitement of the storm contributed to this, but some teachers were obviously more involved with socializing than with working with their task sheets.

#### DBAE Instruction

## Inadequate number of DBAE subjects

First of all, the sizes of the DBAE groups  $(\underline{n} = 4 \text{ and } \underline{n} = 6)$ were simply not adequate for any generalization about their scores to have a great deal of meaning. In another year or two, it is anticipated that approximately half of the Columbus Public School elementary art teachers will be trained in the DBAE approach. If the study could have been delayed until that time, the DBAE groups in the study could be larger, increasing the likelihood of valid generalizations.

# Problems with indexing of visuals

It could, in any case, be debated whether or not DBAE instruction would ever prove to be a factor that would affect the library skills of art teachers. Visual art collections are, according to Stam and Giral, particularly difficult to organize and index because often "the visual itself does not naturally suggest the words that should be used to characterize its aspects" (1988, p. 118). Visuals can be indexed in a variety of ways, and it would be almost impossible for the collection of the ARC to be indexed to suit the varied searching styles of all of the elementary art teachers. Even if DBAE training did, in fact,



73
produce a teacher more motivated to locate visuals in the ARC, it may not necessarily follow that this increased motivation would translate into an increased ability to use the bibliographic tools. Most of the tools in the ARC index by such access points as "artist" or "artistic movement." The collection, however, is not indexed by such access points as "media" or "nationality." If a teacher tends to search for visuals with the latter topics in mind, then he or she would soon find the ARC's bibliographic tools to be irrelevant. In this situation, DEAE instruction may simply produce a more persistent browser, rather than a more systematic searcher.

### The Lesser Factors

### Gender, proximity, and Masters

That gender, proximity of school to the ARC, and possession of a masters degree all seemed to have no effect on the concept map posttest is not surprising for the following reasons. Again there was a problem with group sizes. Few of the total were male (n = 7), and few had earned their masters (n = 8). The factor, proximity to the ARC may have been confounded in a number of ways. It does not take into account how far the teachers' homes are from the ARC; a teacher may work at a school 30 minutes in driving time from the ARC, but reside only five minutes away, making use of the ARC convenient after all. The proximity factor also does not take into account that some teachers must work at more than one



74

elementary, and it does not take into account the fuel efficiency of a teacher's car. Both considerations could affect a teacher's willingness to make a special trip to the ARC. Closer proximity may not translate into an increased desire to use the ARC, in any case. It would almost be surprising if the findings did show that proximity plays a role in determining library skills.

### Years of teaching experience

Originally, it was intended that years of teaching experience would also be considered as one of the lesser factors. However, the consideration of years of teaching experience as a factor proved to be problematic, due to the changing hiring practice of art teachers by the Columbus Public Schools over the years. Many of the teachers with the most experience were members of the original ten teachers hired to teach elementary art. Before that time, art was not part of the curriculum for elementary school children. These teachers were hired from an existing pool of Columbus Public School teachers; most were not specifically art trained. Over the years, the total number of allotted art teachers was gradually increased. Five years ago, however, several new elementary art positions were created. For this reason, a very high percentage (approximately 65%) of the elementary art teachers have five years or less of teaching experience. The fact that art certification has in recent years become a requirement for newly-hired art teachers makes it



73

difficult to consider "years of experience" as a factor that can be extracted for study. The teachers with the most experience are, as a rule, also the teachers who are not specifically certified to teach art.

### The Concept Map Training

### Insufficient training time

A serious limitation to this study was the insufficient time, (in this case only a single one-hour session) that was given to the teaching of the concept mapping technique itself. Novak (1990) discusses the difficulties of introducing concept mapping to junior high school students, since they have already adapted to primarily rote-mode learning methods. If concept mapping is such a foreign technique for junior high school students, how much more strange would it be for adult learners? Indeed, a few of the teachers expressed their frustration that they did not really understand how concept mapping worked. Others seemed intimidated at the prospect of being tested with such an unfamiliar tool. It is certainly possible that a teacher in the experimental group could have learned a great deal in the bibliographic instruction session, but a lack of skill in concept mapping may have prevented evidence of this learning to be revealed. Considering that researchers recommend that anywhere from two weeks (Schmid & Telaro, 1990) to two years (Novak, 1990) be devoted to the instruction of the concept map technique, this study's single one-



78

hour session was clearly inadequate.

#### Demonstration topic choice

Another limitation of this study related to the concept map training session concerns the choice of "art" as the topic for the demonstration concept map. This topic was chosen because it was assumed that such a familiar topic would be easy for the subjects to map. It was not realized until the data analysis, however, that the use of such a topic may have had a confounding effect on the demonstration concept map scores, since knowledge of the topic "art," or at least the ability to easily categorize it, could have been affected by DBAE instruction. If this were indeed the case, then that could explain why the two groups that had received the DBAE training scored better on the demonstration concept than the two groups that had not. It would also mean that the confounding of the two-way analysis of covariance that had been performed to determine whether group demonstration concept map scores.

#### The Concept Map as an Assessment Tool

Kagan, in her article that describes five different approaches to assessing teacher cognition, criticizes studies that utilize concept mapping because they "usually assume the existence of some incontestable exemplary structure; the closer the resemblance between participants' maps and the target map, the more 'progress' one can infer" (1990, p. 450). As was mentioned



1

earlier, attempts were made in this study not to use the sample map drawn by the instructor as anything more than an example. It was always recognized that the same information could be validly represented in a number of ways (Schmid & Telaro, 1990). This possibility of a variety of valid maps, however, leads to the recognition of another problem with the use of concept maps as an assessment tool: concept mapping is a test form that rewards verbosity and penalizes those who are concise. The scoring method of Novak and Gowin (1984), for example, gives equal weight to all relationships, the only criterion being that each relationship be meaningful. No consideration is give for varying degrees of importance that may exist among the individual relationships. For this reason, one questions whether concept maps should be numerically scored at all. Perhaps they would be better used for qualitative, rather chan quantitative assessment. Even Novak and Gowin (1984, p. 97), seem to downplay the relevancy of numerically scoring concept maps, saying:

Concept maps can be similar to paintings; you either like one or you do not. A simple qualitative judgment of students' concept maps is all that some teachers want. In our early work, we were often asked, "How does one score the children's concept maps?" We were more interested in representing what children's conceptual framework looked like before and after instruction, or over a span of years. Scoring was in many



respects irrelevant, for we were looking for qualitative changes in the structure of children's concept maps. But because we live in a numbers-oriented society, most students and teachers want to score concept maps. So over the years we have devised a variety of scoring procedures ....

### Conclusions

This study was unable to show that bibliographic and/or DBAE training resulted in significantly improved library skills for elementary art teachers in a visual arts collection. The value of concept mapping as a quantitative tool to assess the effects of both bibliographic and DBAE instruction remains unclear, since there was employed no second form of assessment with which to compare the concept map score results. It remains for future research to determine the concurrent validity of concept mapping as an quantitative assessment tool. Concept mapping does, however, hold promise as a form of evaluation to qualitatively assess the effects of bibliographic instruction, since it is a technique that seems to graphically represent both what the learner does and does not understand.

#### Recommendations for Further Research

Although the concept map scores in this study did not reveal that bibliographic instruction had an effect on the library skills of the subjects, the maps themselves did seem to reveal misconceptions that were held by the art teachers about how to use



73

the various bibliographic tools. Concept mapping, then does seem to have research applications in the field of library and information science as a qualitative assessment tool for use by librarians in user education. No special equipment is required, and it is a form of assessment that could be adapted to any library setting. If, however, a quantitative assessment is desired, then a second test form should be employed along with concept mapping to establish concurrent validity (Wallace & Mintzes, 1990). It should be cautioned, however, that a period of at least two weeks may be required to properly teach the concept mapping technique (Schmid & Telaro, 1990). For this reason, concept mapping may have more practical applications for use in library and information science education. Concept mapping could perhaps be included as part of the course of study. It is a technique that could be particularly useful for the teaching of reference and information services courses (Sherratt & Schlabach, 1990), where concept mapping could be employed both to reveal what the student knows and to assess how well particular concepts and processes have been taught. Concept maps drawn by students could also reveal new and innovative ways to approach the search process.

Concept mapping may also have implications for visual arts librarians as a tool to assess the way their materials are organized. Since a visual arts collection can be indexed in a



80

variety of ways (Stam & Giral, 1988), concept maps drawn by patrons could reveal the access points that are really needed, but have yet to be created. Such maps could be used as a basis for further indexing. Concept maps could also be used by visual art librarians to both create and evaluate entry terms in an art thesaurus, as Rada et al.(1988) had done with MeSH, the thesaurus used by the National Library of Medicine's bibliographic retrieval system (Medline).

### Chapter Summary

This study investigated the use of concept mapping to assess the effects of both bibliographic and DBAE instruction on the library skills of elementary art teachers in a visual arts resource center belonging to the Columbus (Ohio) Public Schools. This chapter contained an overview of the study which discussed the study's design (a 2 x 2 factorial posttest-only control group design), the variables (DBAE and bibliographic instruction), and the study's assessment tool (the concept map). A brief description of concept mapping and its uses in research thus far were given, with special emphasis on its role as an assessment tool in library and information science. It was offered that this study should be considered exploratory as well as experimental, since no evidence could be found of research that had investigated the use of concept maps to quantitatively assess the effects of bibliographic instruction, let alone DBAE instruction.



81

The research hypotheses were listed and the findings of the data analyses were given. All four research hypotheses were rejected; no significant difference (p < .05) could be found among the mean scores of the four experimental groups. Other findings included the following. No significant three-way interactions occurred between group posttest scores and the three lesser factors under consideration: gender, proximity of job to the ARC, and possession of a Masters degree. Group demonstration scores could not be significantly correlated to posttest scores, and all concept map components contributed significantly (p < .01) to the total concept map score.

A discussion of several of the study's limitations followed, the most significant limitation being the study's lack of a second test form with which to compare concept map results. This deficiency makes it impossible to discern whether the forms of instruction really had little or no effect on the subjects' library skills, or whether concept maps were incapable of indicating significant improvements that in reality had occurred. Among the other limitations of this study were problems with the lesser factors, the small sample size, and inadequate bibliographic instruction and concept map training time.

It was concluded that even though the value of the concept map as a quantitative assessment tool to measure the effects of bibliographic and DBAE instruction on library skills remains



70

unclear, that it still holds promise as a qualititative assessment tool, since it graphically represents what the learner does and does not understand. It was recommended that the concept map be further studied both as a quantitative and qualitative assessment tool, with the warning that a second test form should be employed to establish concurrent validity. In addition, it was advised that adequate time (a minimum of 2 weeks) be allotted for the concept map instruction. And finally, possible uses for concept mapping in library and information science education and in visual art librarianship were given.



83

#### LIST OF REFERENCES

- Allen, M. B. (1989). Focusing the one-shot lecture. <u>Research Strategies</u>, 7(3).
- Ausubel, D. P., Novak, J. D., & Hanesian, H. (1978). <u>Educational psychology: A cognitive view</u> (2nd ed.). New York: Holt, Rinehart, and Winston.
- Benson, J. & Maloney, K. (1975). Principles of searching. <u>RQ</u>, 14, (4), 316.
- Brandt, R. (1988). On discipline-based art education: A conversation with Elliot Eisner. <u>Educational Leadership</u>, <u>45(4)</u>, 7.
- Campbell, D. T., & Stanley, J. C. (1963). <u>Experimental and</u> <u>quasi-experimental designs for research</u>. Chicago: Rand McNally College Publishing Company.
- Donovan, E. P. (1983). Using concept mapping in the biology classroom. Colorado Springs: University of Colorado at Colorado Springs, School of Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 260 925)
- Eadie, T. (1990). Immodest proposals: User instruction for students does not work. Library Journal, 115(17), 42-45
- Freeman, C. C. (1988). Visualizing art: An overview of the visual resources profession in the United States. Art Documentation, 7(1), 6-8.
- Fry, T. K. & Kaplowitz, J. (1988). The English 3 library instruction program at UCLA: A follow-up study. <u>Research</u> <u>Strategies</u>, 6(3), 100-108.
- Geahigan, P. C. & Geahigan, G. (1982). Library research: Answering the information needs of art teachers. <u>Art</u> <u>Education</u>, <u>35(4)</u>, 34-37.
- The Getty Center for Education in the Arts (1985). <u>Beyond</u> <u>creating: The place for art in America's schools</u>. Los Angeles: The Getty Center for the Arts, p. 13.
- Havel, P., & Treagust, D. F. (1989). Visual library research: A method for helping low achieving students learn science. <u>School Science and Mathematics</u>, <u>89</u>(3), 220-227.



Jahoda, G. (1972). The reference process: Modules for instruction. <u>RQ</u>, <u>17</u>, (1), 7.

- Jegede, O. J., Alaiyemola, F. F., & Okebukola, P. A. O. (1990). The effect of concept mapping on students' anxiety and achievement in biology. <u>Journal of Research in Science</u> <u>Teaching</u>, <u>27</u>(10), 951-959.
- Kagan, D. M. (1990). Ways of evaluating teacher cognition: Inferences concerning the Goldilocks principle. <u>Review of</u> <u>Educational Research</u>, <u>60</u>(3), 419-469.
- Lavoie, D., & Backus A. (1990). Students write to overcome learning blocks. <u>Journal of College Science Teaching</u>, <u>19(6)</u>, 353-358.
- McCutcheon, R. (1990). Library scavenger hunts: A way out of the bewilderness. <u>Wilson Library Bulletin</u>, <u>64</u>(5), 38-40.
- Madland, D., & Smith, M. A. (1988). Computer-assisted instruction for teaching conceptual library skills to remedial students. <u>Research Strategies</u>, <u>6</u>(2), 52-64.
- Maitland-Gholson, J. (1990). New voices on evaluation and DBAE teaching effectiveness: Summary remarks by Jane Maitland-Gholson. In The Getty Center for the Arts, <u>Seminar proceedings: Inheriting the theory: New voices and</u> <u>multiple perspectives on DBAE</u> (pp. 59-60). Los Angeles: The J. Paul Getty Trust.
- Malone, J., & Dekkers, J. (1984). The concept map as an aid to instruction in science and mathematics. <u>School Science</u> <u>and Mathematics</u>, <u>84</u>(3), 220-233.
- Mensching, T. B. (1989). Trends in bibliographic instruction in the 1980s: A comparison of data from two surveys. <u>Research Strategies</u>, 7(1), 4-13.
- Novak, J. D. (1979). The reception learning paradigm. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 16(6), 481-488.
- Novak, J. D. (1980). Leaning theory applied to the biology classroom. <u>American Biology Teacher</u>, <u>42</u>(5), 280-285.



- Novak, J. D. (1984). Application of advances in learning theory and philosophy of science to the improvement of chemistry teaching. <u>Journal of Chemical Education</u>, <u>61</u>(7), 607-645.
- Novak, J. D. (1990). Concept maps and Vee diagrams: Two metacognitive tools to facilitate meaningful learning. <u>Instructional Science</u>, <u>19(1)</u>, 29-52.
- Novak, J. D., & Gowin, D. B. (1984). Learning how to learn. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Novak, J. D., & Ridley, D. R. (1988). <u>Assessing student</u> <u>learning in light of how students learn</u>. Washington, D.C.: American Association for Higher Education. (ERIC Reproduction Service No. ED 299 923)
- The Ohio Partnership for the Visual Arts: Regional Institute for Educators. (1990). Columbus, OH: Department of Art Education, The Ohio State University.
- Okebukola, P. A. (1990). Attaining meaningful learning in genetics and ecology: An examination of the potency of the concept-mapping technique. <u>Journal of Research in Science</u> <u>Teaching</u>, <u>27</u>(5), 493-504.
- Pankratius, W. J. (1990). Building an organized knowledge base: Concept mapping and achievement in secondary school physics. <u>Journal of Research in Science Teaching</u>, 27(4), 315-333.
- Powell, R. R. (1985). <u>Basic research methods for</u> <u>librarians</u>. Norwood, New Jersey: Ablex Publishing Corporation.
- Rada, R., Mili, H., Letourneau, G., & Johnston, D. (1988). Creating and evaluating entry terms. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Documentation</u>, <u>44</u>(1), 19-41.
- Ragans, R. (1988). <u>Arttalk</u>. Mission Hills, California: Glencoe/McGraw-Hill.
- Rettig, J. (1978). A theoretical model and definition of the reference process. <u>RQ</u>, <u>18</u>(1), 19-29.



- Ridgeway, T. (1983). <u>Library orientation methods. mental</u> <u>maps. and public service planning</u>. Rock Hill, SC: Winthrop College, Ida Jane Dacus Library. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 247 942)
- Roberts, H. (1988). "Do you have any pictures of...?": Subject access to works of art in visual collections and book reproduction. <u>Art Documentation</u>, 4(3), 87-90.
- Rodkewich, P. M., & Kautz, B. A. The dissolution of a new library instruction concept: Interactive video. <u>Research</u> <u>Strategies</u>, 7(3), 114-118.
- Rosenblum, J. (1983). The shifty shoals of bibliographic instruction. <u>The Journal of Academic Librarianship</u>, 9(3), 8-9.
- Schmid, R., & Telaro, G. (1990). Concept mapping as an instructional strategy for high school biology. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Educational Research</u>, <u>84</u>(2), 78-85.
- Sheridan, J. (1990). The reflective librarian: Some observations on bibliographic instruction in the academic library. <u>The Journal of Academic Librarianship</u>, <u>16(1)</u>, 22-26.
- Sherratt, C. S., & Schlabach, M. L. (1990). The applications of concept mapping in reference and information services. <u>RO</u>, 30(1), 60-69.
- Stam, D. C. (1985). Rememberances of things past: Mental processes of the art reference librarian. <u>Art</u> <u>Documentation</u>, <u>4</u>(4), 139-141.
- Stam, D. C., & Giral, A. (1988). Introduction to linking art objects and art information. <u>Library Trends</u>, <u>37</u>(2), 118.
- Stewart, J., Kirk, J. V., & Rowell, R. (1979). Concept maps: A tool for use in biology teaching. <u>American Biology</u> <u>Teacher</u>, <u>41</u>(3), 171.
- Stice, C. F., & Alvarez, M. C. (1986). <u>Hierarchical concept</u> <u>mapping: Young children learning how to learn</u>. Nashville: Tennessce State Univ. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 274 946)



- Wallace, J. D., & Mintzes, J. J. (1990). The concept map as a research tool: Exploring conceptual change in biology. <u>Journal of Research in Science Teaching</u>, <u>27</u>(10), 1033-1052.
- Wandersee, James H. (1990). Concept mapping and the cartography of cognition. <u>Journal of Research in Science</u> <u>Teaching</u>, <u>27</u>(10), 923-936.
- Wilson, S. M. (1990). New voices on evaluation and DBAE training effectiveness: Summary of remarks by Suzanne M.
  Wilson. In The Getty Center for the Arts, Seminar proceedings: Inheriting the theory: New voices and multiple perspectives or DBAE (pp. 61-62). Los Angeles: The J. Paul Getty Trust.



ENT STATE UNIV	ERSITY HUMAN A APPROVAL TO	I SUBJECTS REVIEW 1 ) USE HUMAN SUBJE	BOARD CTS IN RESEARCH		91-324
Blesse type all inf	ormation. HAN	DWRITTEN FORMS	CANNOT BE ACCEP	TED,	
Name <u>Cari</u> a_J	Schick	ിം 	5 6681 *246 10 54-7155 Address <u>Re</u>	87 Carrousel Dr ynoldsburg, OH	43068
Department Lib	ary Science	Facul	ty Rank/Student Statu	<u>MIS Student</u>	
Project Tille and Ele	e <u>Use of Conc</u> 1 Discipline- ementary Art	ept Mapping to E Based Art Educat Teachers in a Vi	valuate the Effe ion Instruction swal Resource Ce	cts of both Bil on the Library enter	bliographic Skills of
Type of Project:	Faculty Res	search Externally F rected Research (Advis	Funded (Agency: For:_ <u>ProfCar1_F</u> i Course Requirement (	canklin	
	Other (Sp	ecify:			)
			but not before at	proval is obtained	
Duration of Proj	oci: Starting D	ate <u>Feb. 11. 199</u>	,		
Duration of Proj	eci: Starting D	ate <u>Feb. 11, 1991</u> ate <u>May 11, 1991</u>		aining consent (if a	ny), as approved by
Lectify that the the Human Subj changes will be s	Ending Da Ending Da research proced euts Review Bos submitted for Bo	ate <u>Feb. 11, 1991</u> ate <u>May 11, 1991</u> lures for this project, a ard, will be followed du bard review and approv <u>1/27/91</u> Date	Ind the method of obt ring the period cover ral prior to Implement <u>Au Wanda</u> Faculty Advisor (if	aining consent (if an ed by this research ation.	hy), as approved by project. Any future //27/91 Date
Lecrify that the the Human Subjectanges will be so the subject of	Ending D Ending D research proced ects Review Bos submitted for Bo Dubuck	ate <u>Feb. 11, 1991</u> ate <u>May 11, 1991</u> lures for this project, a ard, will be followed du bard review and approv <u>1/27/91</u> Date	nd the method of obtaining the period cover ral prior to Implementa Faculty Advisor (if	aining consent (if ai ed by this research ation.	ny), as approved by project. Any future <u>1/27/91</u> Date
I certify that the the Human Subj changes will be so <u>Outle</u> <u>Contect</u>	Ending D Ending D research proced ects Review Bos submitted for Bo <u>cultuck</u> gator	ate <u>Feb. 11, 1991</u> ate <u>May 11, 1991</u> Jures for this project, a ard, will be followed du bard review and approv <u>1/27/91</u> Date	Ind the method of obtaining the period cover a prior to Implementa Man Manada Faculty Advisor (if	aining consent (if are do y this research ation.	hy), as approved by project. Any future
Duration of Proj	Ending D Ending D research proced ects Review Boe submitted for Bo	ate <u>Feb. 11, 1991</u> ate <u>May 11, 1991</u> lures for this project, a ard, will be followed du bard review and approv 	Ind the method of obt ring the period cover ral prior to Implement Market Advisor (if Faculty Advisor (if	aining consent (if an ed by this research ation. Pi is a student) BJECTS REVIEW I	hy), as approved by project. Any future <u>1/27/91</u> Date
Duration of Proj I certify that the the Human Subj changes will be s <u>Outo</u> Principal Intestit ACTION TAKEI <u>REVIEW/EIT</u> <u>Level I, Cat</u>	eci: Starting D Ending Da research proced ects Review Boe submitted for Bo <u>Datack</u> gator	ate <u>Feb. 11, 1991</u> ate <u>May 11, 1991</u> lures for this project, a ard, will be followed du pard review and approv 	Ind the method of obtaining the period cover ral prior to Implementa Market Market Market Faculty Advisor (if KSU HUMAN SU	aining consent (if an ed by this research ation. Pi is a student) BJECTS REVIEW I	hy), as approved by project. Any future <u>1/27/91</u> Date
Duration of Proj	eci: Starting D Ending Da research proced ects Review Boe submitted for Bo <u>Data</u> gator N: equory <u></u>	ate <u>Feb. 11, 1991</u> ate <u>May 11, 1991</u> lures for this project, a ard, will be followed du pard review and approv <u>1/27/91</u> Date	Ind the method of obt ring the period cover- ral prior to Implement <u>Au Wandu</u> Faculty Advisor (if <u>KSU HUMAN SU</u> <u>Approved, Le</u>	aining consent (if an ed by this research ation. Pi is a student) BJECTS REVIEW I wel I	hy), as approved by project. Any future <u>1/27/91</u> Date
Duration of Proj	eci: Starting D Ending Da research proced ects Review Boe submitted for Bo Duluck gator N: equory tegory o Full Boerd	ate <u>Feb. 11. 1991</u> ate <u>May 11. 1991</u> lures for this project, a ard, will be followed du bard review and approx <u><math>1/27/91</math></u> Date	Ind the method of obt ring the period cover- ral prior to Implementa Market Market Faculty Advisor (if KSU HUMAN SU Approved, Le Approved, Le Approved by Affinistrator, Hi	aining consent (if an ed by this research ation. Pi is a student) BJECTS REVIEW I wel I wel I BoardConting SRB/	hy), as approved by project. Any future <u>1/27/91</u> Date BOARD erntDisapprove <u>2/11/91</u> Date
Duration of Proj I certify that the i the Human Subj changes will be so <u>Mulu</u> Principal Intestit ACTION TAKE! <u>REVIEWEI!</u> <u>Level II</u> , Cat <u>Level II</u> , Cat <u>Level II</u> , Cat <u>Departmental F</u>	eci: Starting D Ending Da research proced ects Review Bos submitted for Bo <u>Diffict</u> gator N: equory tegory o Full Boerd Vill Reviewer	ate <u>Feb. 11. 1991</u> ate <u>May 11. 1991</u> Jures for this project, a ard, will be followed du vard review and approv <u>1/27/91</u> Date <u>2/6/91</u> Date	Ind the method of obt ring the period cover ral prior to Implementa <i>Uni Una Mandelli</i> Faculty Advisor (if <u>KSU HUMAN SU</u> <u>Approved, Le</u> <u>Approved, Le</u> <u>Approved, Le</u> <u>Approved by</u> <u>Afministrator, His</u> <u>Chairperson, HS</u>	aining consent (if ar ed by this research ation. Pi is a student) BJECTS REVIEW I wel I wel I Board Conting SRB	hy), as approved by project. Any future $\frac{1/27/91}{Date}$ BOARD Hent Disapprove $\frac{2/11/91}{Date}$ Date 2 - (2 - 91) Date

89 BEST COPY AVAILABLE



PART	t: Plense #	Inswe	r the following by circling the correct response:	P A
Yes	NO	1.	Will subjects be identifiable to anyone other than the researchers through records, respon- ses or identifiers linked to the subjects?	G E
Yes	No	2.	Could subjects be at risk of criminal or civil liability, damage to employability or to financial standing, or undue embarrassment, if responses became known outside this research pro- ject?	2 0 F
Yes	No	3.	Does research deal with sensitive aspects of subjects' behavior, such as llegal conduct, drug use, sexual behavior, or use of alcohol?	4
Yes	No	4.	Does research involve the collection or study of <u>existing</u> data from sources <u>not publicly</u> <u>available</u> ? (existing data can be documents, records, pathological specimens or diagnos- tic specimens)	
Yes	(No)	5.	Will subjects be video/audio taped?	
Yes	No NA	6.	Are subjects free to withdraw at any time without penalty?	
Yes	No	7.	is there deception of subjects that is unexplained at end of project?	
Yes	(No)	8.	Does research deal with subjects who are children under eight years, not-legally- competent aduits, mentally handicapped, physically handicapped, prisonurs, or pregnant women? ( <u>circle appropriate group or groups</u> )	

PART II: Stramarize proposed project and procedures to which humans will be subjected. (DO NOT WRITE "S' E ATTACHED") Consent form(s), questionnaire(s), etc. should be included with the application.

This sty / will investigate the effects of bibliographic instruction and Discipline-Based Art Education (DBAE) training on the library skills of elementary art teachers in the Columbus Public School . Recent changes in the organization of the Arts Resource Center, a visual arts collection ci ited to provide visuals for the art teachers of the Columbus Public Schools, have made library istruction desirable so that the collection will be accessible to the teachers even when no staff person is present to assist them. A 2 x 2 factorial design will be used to measure the interaction effects of the two forms of training. Bibliographic instruction will consist of a one-hour settion during which the teachers in the experimental group will be given a list of tasks to perf im that will actively involve them in the use of the Arts Resource Center. Appendix A is a sample task list. DBAE instruction means the past participation of a teacher in a J. Paul Getty three ' ok training session. Approximately one-third of the elementary teachers have received thi instruction that is being factored into this study because of its emphasis on the use of visua resources in art education. Concept mapping, a device for representing the conceptual strue ure of a discipline, or segment of a discipline in two dimensions, will be the assessment to 1. Appendix B is a sample concept map that depicts the steps one would take to locate resources in the Arts Resource Center on the topic, "surrrealism." Appendix C summarizes the system to 1, will be used to score the concept maps. The fac ring in of the possible effects of DBAE training on the outcome will be accomplished by splitting the list of teachers who have received DBAE training and then randomly assigning nalf to the contr group and half to the experimental group. The procedure of the study will be as

follows:

à

All elementary art teachers will be introduced to concept mapping. 1. Feb. 11

The experimental group will receive bibliographic instruction.

3. Feb. 18 All teachers will be asked to draw concept maps depicting the steps they would

take to and resources for a given art topic. 4. Feb. 25 All teachers will again be asked to map steps they would take to find resources for a topic 'milar in complexity to the one given the previous week. The scores of these maps will be ed for correlation with the scores of the first maps.

90 BEST COPY AVAILABLE

Appendix " is the consent form that will be given to the teachers.



e propriate. If more space is needed, use additional paper.

1. How w. 'he subjects be selected? (Inducte rationale for use of special classes of subjects such as pregnant women children, institutionalized mentally disabled, prisoners, or those whose ability to give voluntary informece onsent may be in question.)

The elem dary art teachers have been selected as the subjects for this study because O they are wich more homogeneous in their exposure to the Arts Resource Center than are F the middle and high school art teachers. This is because only the elementary art teacher the required to attend a weekly meeting at the building where the Arts Resource4 Center 1 housed. At the end of the meeting they are usually allotted time to search

# 2. Briefly (inscribe the characteristics of your population(s): the size of your sample, the ethnic background, sax, age, state of health and the criteria for inclusion or exclusion of subjects.

The same will consist of the approximate 42 elementary art teachers, the majority being female, sucasian, and ranging in age from the mid-twenties to the late forties. All appear to be in wood health. Other than the criterion that the subject be an elementary art teacher, other culteria include the following: the subject must not be a Kent State Library Science student the subject must not have work experience in the Arts Resource Center. The last two crittia would only eliminate two teachers.

3. Idente, any risks - physical, psychological, and/or social - to which your subjects may be exposed as a result of participation in your project (beyond the risks normally encountered in everyday life). What safeguards will you use to protect the subjects from these risks, as well as to protect their rights, welfare and privacy? (Never answei 'NA')

Risks t the subjects are minimal in this study. The only risk may be a social one, since the elementary art teachers have been singled out to participate. The privacy of the bjects will be protected by using forms for the concept maps that will be coded to ther than signed.

# 4. How end the subjects be informed of the risks to which they will be subjected?

Before the subjects are asked for their consent to participate they will be given the reason that their group was chosen. This information is also contained in the informed consen orm, as is an assurance that their anonymity will be protected in this study.

# 5. How wit you obtain "Informed consent"? (append form(s) to be used)

The subjects will be given a brief description of the study after which they will be asked sign the consent form, if they agree to participate. Appendix D is the form t - will be used.

6. Describe alternative procedures that were considered and why they will not be used.

None

# 7. Describe the benefits expected to be gained from this project. (This should include any direct benefits to the sul .... (s as well as any general gain in knowledge.)

Its of this study could provide insights into how bibliographic instruction and/or Based Art instruction can affect an art teacher's ability to utilize the The t wrce Center. Additionally, it is hoped that the library skills of those in the Disci experimental group will improve as a result of the bibliographic training that they will gave unived.



97 BEST COPY AVAILABLE 79

Ρ Α

G

Ε

3

- In which then State University faculty or departmental office will the signed consent forms be kept? (Consent provide the signed consent forms, answer the signed consent forms will be kept at the School of Library G Science office at Kent; copies will be kept at the extension Library Science campus
- in Coll solution, solution is involved, describe its nature, why it is necessary, and how subjects will be debriefed. Include any fee thack, educational or otherwise, which subjects will receive.
   NA
- 10. What do you intend to do with the data collected? (i.e., publish data, present paper, erase tapes, etc.)

A Master's research paper will be written; the possibility exists that it may eventually be puttershed. Additionally, the results of this study will be communicated to the art supervisor.

11. Describer any form of compensation to subjects. (i.e., money, grade, extra credit, etc. if extra credit or grade is given to students who participate in the project, what opportunity for extra credit or grade is provided to students who have not to participate?)

Compensition will not be given to the subjects, however, a drawing will be held for a subscription to an art education journal as an incentive and sign of appreciation for the teachers.

12. If you T be using children under 18, explain in detail how you will obtain assent (for children under 12; see page that consent (for children 12 to 18). If assent/consent will be obtained orally, supply a script of what you will be any and how you will give the children the opportunity to say "yes" or "no".

NΛ

13. If the implect involves drawing blood, taking tissue samples, giving injections, etc., what are the qualific itions/certifications of the person(s) doing this?

NA

14. a. If it a subjects' personal files (school, medical, etc.) will be read, where are the files kept and who will gather the information?

NΛ

b. Her (cormission been obtained to gather this information? (Attach documentation)

NΛ

c. Do the subjects (and/or their parents or guardians) know that these files will be read? If no, explain.

15. a. Will in thresults be disseminated to the subjects (and/or their parents or guardians)?

Test verifits will be disseminated on a one-to-one basis to those subjects that express inter ' ' ...'' what the qualifications of the person(s) interpreting the results.

As the resigner of the study, the library science student is best qualified to interval the results.

# **BEST COPY AVAILABLE**



80

4

0

F



School of Library Science (216) 672-2782

> Consent Form: The Use of Concept Mapping to Evaluate the Effects of both Bibliographic and Discipline-Based Art Education Instruction on the Library Skills of Elementary Art Teachers in a Visual Resource Center

I want to do research on the use of concept mapping to evaluate the effects of both bibliographic and Discipline-Based Art Education instruction on the library skills of elementary art teachers in a visual resource center. I want to do this because the results of this study could provide useful insights into how a library training session and/or DBAE training can affect on art teacher's ability to utilize the Arts Resource Center. I would like you to take part in this project. If you decide to do this, you will be ousked to receive instruction in constructing concept maps, possibly participate in a training session on how to locate items in the Arts Resource Center, and construct concept maps in two separate sessions. Total time commitment required from you is approximately four hours over a three week period. Your group, the approximate 42 elementary art teachers, has been chosen for this ::tudy because you are much more homogeneous in your exposure to the Arts 'esource Center than are the middle and high school art teachers.

Your anonymity is assured; you will not be asked to sign your name to the concept maps that you draw. Instead, the forms that you will use for drawing the concept maps will be coded to indicate to which group you belong. Weither I nor the art supervisor will know the the identity of the constructor of any particular concept map.

If you take part in this project, you will be assisting me, as your

# **BEST COPY AVAILAGLE**





School of Library Science (216) 672-2782

> Consent Form, cont.: The Use of Concept Mapping to Evaluate the Effects of both Bibliographic and Discipline-Based Art Education Instruction on the Library Skills of Elementary Art Teachers in a Visual Resource Center

library aide, to make the Arts Resource Center a more convenient facility for you and your colleagues to use. You will also be helping the art supervisor to evaluate a possible benefit of Discipline-Based Art Education instruction. Taking part in this project is entirely up to you, and no one will hold it against you if you decide not to do it. If you do take part, you may stop at any time.

If you want to know more about this research project, please call me at 864-7155, or my advisor, Mr. Carl Franklin, at 292-7746. The project has been approved by Kent State University. If you have questions about Kent State University's rules for research, please call Dr. Adriaan de Vries, Lelephone (216) 672-2070.

You will get a copy of this consent form.

Sincerely,

Carla J. Schuck

Carla J. Schick Masters of Library Science Student

CONSENT STATEMENT

I agree to take part in this project. I know what I will have to do and that I can stop at any time.

Gignature

Date



### Appendix B

.

### Concept Map Worksheet

- Gender of participant: Male \_\_\_\_ Female \_\_\_\_
   How close in driving time is the school where you work to the ARC? 0-14 mins. \_\_\_\_\_ 15-19 mins. \_\_\_\_\_ 30+ mins. \_\_\_\_\_
   Do you have your Masters degree? Yes \_\_\_\_\_ No \_\_\_\_\_
   How many years of teaching experience (counting this year)
- do you have? \_\_\_\_



# Appendix C

Categories of Formats in the ARC

Format:	<u>Organized</u> :	Indexed:
Oversized Print Reproductions	Alphabetically by artist in topic drawers	By artist in "Print Inventory"
Books	By Dewey Decimal system	By author, title, and subject in card catalog
Boxed Prints	Ву topic	By name of box in "Boxed Print" Inventory"
Educational Packages	By topic	By name of package in "Educational Package Inventory"
Boxed Slides	By topic	By name of box in "Boxed Slide Inventory"
Slide Packets	By topic	By name of packet in "Slide Packet Inventory
Discovering Art History Slides	By artistic movement	By movement, artist, and title of artistic work



.

# Appendix D

# Task Lists

# Task List #1

- Who are some of artists considered to be of the Ash-can School? Procedure: Look up "Ash-can School" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- 2. Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Chairs and Furniture?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Print list under "Chairs and Furniture."
- 3. Find the book, Art as Image and Idea.
- Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a **decimal** system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.
- 4. Does the ARC own an educational package called "Bird Masks?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Bird Masks." Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.
- 5. Find the print reproduction of Brayer's "Chevaux dans la Camargue." Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is a list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- 6. Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Advertisting?" If so, find it.

Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Advertising." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.

- 7. Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Town, City, and Park?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Town, City, and Park." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.
- 8. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Renoir?"

Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other



periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.

Final Question:

Suppose you wanted to find as much information and as many visuals as possible on the topic, "cubism." How would you procede? This question is for group discussion.



- 1. Who are some of artists who painted in the "Cloisonnism" style? Procedure: Look up "Cloisonnism" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- 2. Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Computer Art?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Print list under "Computer Art" Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- 3. Find the book, <u>Guide to Visual Arts and Crafts in Ohio</u>. Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a **decimal** system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.
- 4. Does the ARC own an educational package called "Fantasy?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Fantasy" Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.
- 5. Find the print reproduction of Haymson's "Rockefeller Plaza." Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is a list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Cassatt?" If so, find it.

Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Cassatt." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.

- 7. Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Town, City, and Park?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Town, City, and Park." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.
- 8. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Rivera?"

Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. Ine articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.



Final Question:

Suppose you wanted to find as much information and as many visuals as possible on the topic, "cubism." How would you proceed? This question is for group discussion.



- Who are some of artists considered to be of the Euston Road School? Procedure: Look up "Euston Road School" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- 2. Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Marine Life?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Print list under "Marine Life" Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- 3. Find the book, <u>Primitive Worlds</u>. Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a **decimal** system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.
- 4. Does the ARC own an educational package called "Dutch Painting?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Dutch Painting" Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.
- 5. Find the print reproduction of Cassatt's "Boating Party." Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is a list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- 6. Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Clocks?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Clocks." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.
- 7. Does the ARC own a slide packet called "David Smith: Sculpture?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "David Smith: Sculpture." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.
- 8. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Mayan Art?"

Procedure: Have the library aide perform a 'find' search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.

Final Question:

Suppose you wanted to find as much information and as many visuals as possible on the topic, "cubism." How would you proceed? This question is for group discussion.



1. Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Masks?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Print list under "Masks" Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.

Find the book, <u>Coming to our Senses</u>.
 Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a decimal system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.

3. Does the ARC own an educational package called "Great Masterpieces?" If so, find it.

Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Great Masterpieces" Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.

- 4. Find the print reproduction of Antes' "Interior IV." Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is a list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- 5. Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Color?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Color" Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.
- 6. Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Fantasy?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Fantasy." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.
- 7. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Frank Stella?"

Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.

8. What artists were considered to be Post-Impressionists? Procedure: Look up "Post-Impressionism" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.

Final Question:

Suppose you wanted to find as much information and as many visuals as



possible on the topic, "cubism." How would you proceed? This question is for group discussion.



- 1. Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Birds?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Print list under "Birds" Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- Find the book, <u>Arts in Higher Education</u>.
   Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog.
   Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a decimal system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.
- 3. Does the ARC own an educational package called "Blake?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Blake." Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.
- 4. Find the print reproduction of Marlez's "Floral." Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is a list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Dance?" If so, find it.
   Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Dance" Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.
- Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Fantasy?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Fantasy." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.
- How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "De Kooning?"

Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.

What artists were considered to be Expressionists?
 Procedure: Look up "Expressionism"in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.

Final Question:

Suppose you wanted to find as much information and as many vicuals as



possible on the topic, "cubism." How would you proceed? This question is for group discussion.



- 1. Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Americana?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Print list under "Americana." Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- Find the book, <u>Through Art to Creativity</u>.
   Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a decimal system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.
- Does the ARC own an educational package called "Dufy?" If so, find it Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Dufy" Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.
- 4. Find the print reproduction of Corneille's "Blue, Summer, Closed Blinds." Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is a list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Collage?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Collage." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.
- 6. Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Sculpture?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Sculpture." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.
- 7. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Gris?" Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.
- What artists were part of the Vorticism movement? Procedure: Look up "Vorticism" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.

Final Question:

Suppose you wanted to find as much information and as many visuals as possible on the topic, "cubism." How would you proceed? This question is for group discussion.



- Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Egyptian?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Print list under "Egyptian." Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- Find the book, <u>Stitchery: Art and Craft</u>.
   Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog.
   Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a decimal system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.
- Does the ARC own an educational package called "El Greco?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "El Greco" Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.
- 4. Find the print reproduction of Duerer's "Self-Portrait." Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is alist of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (ordrawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- 5. Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Crayon Techniques?" If so, find it.

Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Crayon Techniques." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.

- Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Sculpture?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Sculpture." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.
- 7. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Aztec Art?" Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.
- 8. Find the name of an artist who was a member of a group of Russian Painters called "Wanderers."

Procedure: Look up "Wanderers" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate an artist's name.

Final Question:

Suppose you wanted to find as much information and as many visuals as



possible on the topic, "cubism." How would you proceed? This question is for group discussion.



;

- 1. Find the book, Art of Assemblage.
  - Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog.Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a **decimal** system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.
- Does the ARC own an educational package called "Flemish Painting?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Flemish Painting" Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.
- 3. Find the print reproduction of David's "The Oath of Horatii.". Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is alist of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- 4. Does the ARC cwn a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Drawing?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Drawing." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.
- Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Sculpture?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Sculpture." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.
- 6. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Dada?" Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.
- What 20th century artists are considered the greatest exponents of fresco? Procedure: Look up ..... in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- Boes the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Children?" If so, find it. Procedure: Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Prints list under "Children." Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves. Final Question:

Suppose you wanted to find as much information and as many visuals as possible on the topic, "cubism." How would you proceed? This question is for group discussion.


1. Find the book, Short History of African Art.

- Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a **decimal** system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.
- Does the ARC own an educational package called "Giotto?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Giotto." Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.
- 3. Find the print reproduction of Constable's "The Hay Wain."
  - Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is a list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- 4. Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Flowers?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Flowers." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.
- 5. Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Sculpture of Picasso?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Sculpture of Picasso."

The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.

6. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Robert Morris?"

Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.

- What artists created chiaroscuro woodcuts? Procedure: Look up "chiaroscuro woodcut" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Costumes?" Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Prints list under "Children". Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.

Final Question:

Suppose you wanted to find as much information and as many visuals as





¥

1. Find the book, Arts and Ideas.

Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a **decimal** system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.

- Does the ARC own an educational package called "Longhi?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Longhi." Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.
- 3. Find the print reproduction of Carravagio's "Bacchus."
- Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is alist of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- 4. Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Figure?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Figure." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.
- 5. Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Sculpture of Picasso?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Sculpture of Picasso. The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.
- 6. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on the Chrysler as an art form?" Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.
- What artists paint in the automatism style?
  Procedure: Look up "Automatism" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- 8. Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Design?" Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Prints list under "Design". Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.

Final Question:

Suppose you wanted to find as much information and as many visuals as





- 1. Does the ARC own an educational package called "Michelangelo?" if so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Michelangelo" Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.
- 2. Find the print reproduction of Chagall's "Feathers in Bloom." Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is a list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- 3. Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Houses?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Houses" Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.
- 4. Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Sculpture?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Sculpture." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.
- 5. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Robert Morris?"

Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.

- What artists were considered to be Abstract Expressionists? Procedure: Look up Abstract Expressionism in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- 7. Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Human Figure?" Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Prints list under "Human Figure"? Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- Find the book, <u>Purposes of Art</u>.
  Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a **decimal** system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.

Final Question:

Suppose you wanted to find as much information and as many visuals as



114



- Does the ARC own an educational package called "Landscapes?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Landscapes." Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.
- 2. Find the print reproduction of Jacob Lawrence's "Parade." Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is alist of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Landscape?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Landscape." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wallof the ARC.
- 4. Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Sculpture?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Sculpture." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.
- 5. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Mondrian?"

Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.

- What artists were considered to be "Action Painters"? Procedure: Look up "Action Painting" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Gardens?" Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Prints list under "Gardens". Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- 8. Find the book, <u>Aesthetics: Problems in the Philosophy of Criticism</u>. Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a **decimal** system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.

Final Question:

Suppose you wanted to find as much information and as many visuals as





- Does the ARC own an educational package called "Ernst?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Ernst." Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.
- 2. Find the print reproduction of Hal's "The Bohemian." Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists arearranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is alist of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- 3. Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Leger?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Leger." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.
- 4. Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Projects in Twentieth-Century Art?" If so, find it.

Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Twentieth-Century Art." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.

- 5. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Leger?" Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.
- 6. What artists were considered to be of the School of Fontainebleau? Procedure: Look up "Fountainebleau, School of" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Dance?"
  Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Prints list under "Dance." Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- Find the book, <u>Art in Your World</u>.
  Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shulf. Remember that the Dewey system is a decimal system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.

Final Question:



 Does the ARC own an educational package called "Lindner?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Lindner." Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.

2. Find the print reproduction of Eakins' "Turning the Stake."

Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is a list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.

- Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Line?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Line." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.
- Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Projects in Twentieth-Century Art?" If so, find it.

Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Projects in Twentieth-Century Art." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.

5. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Nancy Holt?"

Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.

- What artists were in the Hudson River School? Procedure: Look up "Hudson River School" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- 7. Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Jeweiry?" Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Prints list under "Jeweiry"? Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- 8. Find the book, <u>Arttalk</u>. Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a **decimal** system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.

Final Question:



Suppose you wanted to find as much information and as many visuals as possible on the topic, "cubism." How would you proceed? This question is for group discussion.



- Does the ARC own an educational package called "Leger?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Leger." Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.
- 2. Find the print reproduction of Bierstadt's "The Rocky Mountains."
- Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is a list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Mexican Art?" If so, find it.

Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Mexican Art." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.

4. Does the ARC own a slido packet called "Projects in Twentieth Century Art?" If so, find it.

Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Twentieth Century Art." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.

5. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on space photography?"

Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.

- What artists were in The "Group of Seven?" Procedure: Look up "Group of Seven" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- 7. Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Interior Design?" Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Prints list under "Interior Design." Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- 8. Find the book, <u>Transfer: Designs. Textures. and Images</u>. Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a **decimal** system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.



Final Question:



- 1. Does the ARC own an educational package called "Rembrandt?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Rembrandt" Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.
- 2. Find the print reproduction of Angelico's "Adoration of the Magi." Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- 3. Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Magritte?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Magritte." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.
- 4. Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Sculpture All Around?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Sculpture All Around." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.
- 5. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Le Brun?" Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.
- What artists have worked in line engraving? Procedure: Look up "line engraving" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- 7. Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Impressionism?" Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Prints list under "Impressionism." Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- 8. Find the book, <u>Print Making without a Press</u>. Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a **decimal** system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.

Final Question:



 Does the ARC own an educational package called "Modigliani?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Modigliani." Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.

2. Find the print reproduction of El Greco's "View of Toledo".

Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is a list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.

3. Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Oldenburg?" If so, find it.

Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Oldenburg." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.

4. Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Sculpture All Around: CMA Resource Packet?" If so, find it.

Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Sculpture All Around ..." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.

5. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Bob Thompson?"

Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.

- What artists were considered to be of the Mosan School? Procedure: Look up "Mosan School" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- 7. Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Weaving?" Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Prints list under "weaving." Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- Find the book, <u>Art from Recycled Materials</u>. Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a **decimal** system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.



Final Question:



- 1. Find the print reproduction of Cezanne's "Mount Sainte-Victoire."
- Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is a list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Perspective?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "perspective." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.
- 3. Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Collectors: Paul and Ruth Tishman?" If so, find it.

Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Collectors: Paul ..." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.

4. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Cynthia Carlson?"

Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.

- What artists were in the "Pre-Raphaelite Brotherhood?"
  Procedure: Look up "Pre-Raphaelite Brotherhood" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- 6. Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Water?" Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Prints list under "water." Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- Find the book, <u>Form. Space. and Vision</u>.
  Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog.
  Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a decimal system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.
- Does the ARC own an education package called "Velazquez?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Velazquez." Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.



114

Final Question:



- Find the print reproduction of Bingham's "Fur Traders Descending the Mississippi." Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is a list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Photograms?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Photograms." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.
- 3. Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Art Now: Contemporary Collage?" If so, find it.

Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Art Now: Contemporary Collage." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.

4. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Robert Ryman?"

Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.

- What artists were considered to be of the Precisionist movement?
  Procedure: Look up "Precisionism" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locatenames of artists.
- 6. Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Pastel Drawing?" Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Prints list under "Pastel Drawing." Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- Find the book, <u>Fun with Clay</u>.
  Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog.
  Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a decimal system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.
- 8. Does the ARC own an education package called "Rubens" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Rubens." Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.

Final Question:

Suppose you wanted to find as much information and as many visuals as





- 1. Find the print reproduction of Hopper's "August in the City." Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is a list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- 2. Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Picasso?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Picasso." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.
- Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Art Now: A Documentation?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Art Now: A Documentation. The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.
- 4. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Jennifer Bartlett?"

Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.

- What artists were members of the group, "Section d'Or? Procedure: Look up "Section d'Or" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- 6. Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Puppets?" Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Prints list under "Puppets"? Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- 7. Find the book, <u>American Art of the 20th Century</u>. Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a **decimal** system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.
- Does the ARC own an education package called "Toulouse-Lautrec" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Toulouse-Lautrec." Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.

Final Question:



- 1. Find the print reproduction of Serrano's "Fleuve."
- Procedure: In the ARC Catalog find the Print Inventory list. Artists are arranged alphabetically by last name; to the side of each artist's name is a list of the print reproductions that are owned by the ARC and the drawer (or drawers) in which they can be found. The prints are alphabetically arranged in the drawers by the artist's last name.
- Does the ARC own a set of boxed slides on the topic of "Portraits?" If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Boxed Slide list under "Portraits." Boxed Slides are filed alphabetically in the slide drawers on the south wall of the ARC.
- 3. Does the ARC own a slide packet called "Art Now: a Documentation?" If so, find it.

Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's Slide Packet list under "Art Now: a Documentation." The packets are arranged in alphabetical order on the racks on the south wall of the ARC.

4. How can one find the issue of <u>Art in America</u> that contains an article on "Mies van der Rohe?"

Procedure: Have the library aide perform a "find" search on the computer. The articles of <u>Art in America</u> are indexed there, as are most of the other periodicals that are owned by the ARC. The computer search will locate the date of the issue that contains the article your need. Periodicals are located on the first row of shelves as you enter the ARC.

- What artists have worked in "soft art?" Procedure: Look up "Soft Art" in the <u>Oxford Dictionary of Art</u> to locate names of artists.
- Does the ARC own a set of boxed prints called "Murals?" Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Boxed Prints list under "murals." Boxed Prints are located on the center shelves.
- 7. Find the book, <u>Art of Europe</u>. Procedure: Look up the title in the author/title drawer of the card catalog. Copy down the call number (the number at the upper left-hand corner of the card), and locate the book on the shelf. Remember that the Dewey system is a **decimal** system. For example, 3.45 would come before 3.5.
- Does the ARC own an education package called "Roualt." If so, find it. Procedure: Look in the ARC Catalog's alphabetically arranged Educational Package list under "Roualt." Educational Packages are shelved beneath the Reinhold Visuals.



119

Final Question:

